Ineos Group Holdings plc

eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee

''''''''''
EDx 2% oS
COMPAN

(0 404
IES HOUSE




TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1 - DIRECTORS’ REPORT
DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

SECTION 2 - CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AUDITORS REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

9
1

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2009
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER
2009

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2009 (FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS)

SECTION 3 - COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDITORS REPORT ON THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

STATEMENT OF COMPANY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2009

12
13

14

16

17

92
94
95
96

97




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2009

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals and refined
products used 1n a variety of applications

Results for the year

The results of the Group are set out 1n the consolidated income statement on page 11 which shows a
loss on ordmary activities after taxation for the financial year of €615 1 mullion (2008 loss of €572 6
mullion)

Dmvidends

No interim dividend (2008 €ml mullion) was declared during the year The directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend

Review of business developments

In our refining business we operate two large o1l refineries in Europe  Our principal refiming products
are transport fuels, naphtha and heating and firel o1ls  Owr refineries are physically mtegrated with our
petrochemical plants located at the same sites  Our chemicals businesses produce olefins and related
products, a broad range of polymers and a variety of other speciality chemical products We operate a
total of 37 manufacturing sites across the world

The severe economic downturn experienced during the second half of 2008 continued 1nto the first
quarter of 2009 with the Group experniencing reduced volume levels and compressed margins  For the
remainder of the year the Group saw a slow but steady improvement 1n the performance of 1ts
petrochemical businesses Refining performance remained weak as product margins continued to be
depressed from the low levels of demand as a result of the global economic recession during 2009

The Group implemented a number of short term actions to enable the business to cope with the
economic downturn in 2009 Fixed cost reductions remained a key focus for the Group with further
sigmficant reductions made in 2009 The Group also implemented a working caprtal improvement
programme to generate cash inflows A key area of focus for the programme was a reduction 1n
physical inventory levels compared to historical norms Capital expenditure was significantly reduced
1n 2009 through the cancellation or deferment of growth projects as well as by delaying certain planned
maintenance shutdowns Manufacturing plants were also reviewed, leading to the closure of
underperforming units such as the two polypropylene line at Battleground, Texas and the per /
trichloroethylene plant in Runcorn, England

During 2009 the Group made a number of disposals to a related party, Ineos Industries Limited, an
enfity held under common control by the Group’s ultumate sharecholders The businesses disposed of
included the Group’s ABS, Styrenics, Melamines and Films Italia businesses, together with 80% of the
Group’s Bio and Healthcare businesses

The petrochemical market expects to see improving volumes and margins during 2010, as demand
begins to return with the global economy moving out of the recesstonary environment experienced n
2009 The refining market expects to see a gradual recovery 1n the sector over the next few years




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (CONTINUED)

Principal risks and uncertaimnties

The management of the business and the execution of the Group's strategy are subject to a number of
risks The key business risks affecting the Group are set out below

The petrochemical and refining industries are cyclical — changing market demands and prices
may negatively affect the Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, mn turn,
could affect 1ts ability to make payments on 1ts debt or to make further investments in the
business

Raw materials and suppliers — 1f the Group 15 unable to pass on increases in raw material
prices, or to retain or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatively
affected

International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group 1s exposed to currency
fluctuatton risks as well as to economic downturns and local business risks in several different
countries that could adversely affect its profitability

Competition — significant competition in the Group’s industries, whether through efforts of
new and current competitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely
affect 1ts competitive position, sales and overall operations

Inability to maximize utilization of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if 1t 1s
unable to implement our strategy to maximize utilization of assets

Synergies — the Group may not realize anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from
anticipated business opportunities or experience anticipated growth from any of 1ts
acquisitions

Substantial leverage — the Group’s substantial debt could adversely affect our financial
position and prevent us from fulfilling our debt obligations

Key performance mdicators

The main KPI of the business 1s earnings before mterest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation
("EBITDA") Management closely monitors EBITDA compared to budget and prior year This 1s
further discussed in the business review section of this report and details of actual and comparative
EBITDA results are provided 1n note 2

Directors

The directors who served during the year were as follows
Mr J A Ratchffe {Resigned 31 March 2010)

Mr A C Curmie (Resigned 31 March 2010)

Mr ] Reece (Resigned 31 March 2010)

Mr J Dawson

Mr € MacLean

Mr T Crotty

In addition Mr G Leask and Mr M Mitchell were appointed on 7 Apnl 2010




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (CONTINUED)
Research and development

The Group’s research and development team develops new applications for 1ts higher margm and less
cychical speciality chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the
efficiency of the Group’s manufacturing processes In addition, the research and development team 15
also investigating alternative catalyst systems in order to reduce variable costs The research and
development team also leads the Group’s efforts with respect to the development and capacity
expansions of the plants and maintaining and improving safety and environmental standards The
Group spent approximately €59 0 milhion (2008 €66 6 million) on research and development
(including process technology development) during the year

Donations ‘

As part of its ongoing mvestment programme, Ineos Group Holdings plc and its subsidiaries actively
support a variety of initiatives in communities in which 1t operates Charitable donations made during
the year amounted to €0 1 million (2008 €1 0 million) for a vanety of charitable purposes Neither the
Company nor its subsidiary undertakings made any donations or subscriptions for political purposes

Policy and practice on payment of creditors

It 1s Group policy with regard to its supphers to settle the terms of payment when agreeing the terms of
each transaction and to abide by the terms of payment Creditor days for the Group during the year
averaged 45 days (2008 24 days)

Subsequent events

On 29 January 2010 the ChlorVinyls business was disposed of to Kerling plc, a new holding company
formed to combine together Ineos Enterprises, ChlorVinyls and the Ineos Norwegian Polymers
business The Group received €65 million cash consideration from the disposal of the ChlorVinyls
business The ChlorVinyls business was part of the Chemical Intermediates segment

In connection with the reorgamization of our parent’s headquarters and tax residence, as of 26 March,
2010, INEOS AG, a Swiss corporation, became our ultimate parent holding company

On 31 March 2010 the Group disposed of Ineos Fluor Holdings Ltd to Mexichem SAB de CV for $350
million Ineos Fluor was part of the Chemical Intermediates segment

On 16 April 2010 the Group obtamed sentor lender consent for a number of amendments to the Senior
Facilities Agreement which included an increase i the level of headroom on the financial covenants
and the ability to refinance some of the senior secured debt with semor secured notes

Employee involvement

The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its employees and keeps them informed on
matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors affecting the performance of the Group

The involvement of employees tn ownership of the share capital of the ultimate parent company has
also been encouraged and an Employee Share Benefit Trust has been established under which part of
the share capital of the ultumate parent company 1s made available to enable existing and future
employees to invest

It 15 the policy of the Group to give full and far consideration to applications made by disabled persons,
bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicants concerned In the event of
members of staff becoming disabled every effort 1s made to ensure their continued employment with

the Group and to provide speciahised traimng where appropniate

Impact on the environment

The nature of the group's operations means that there is potentially a large impact on the environment
through energy usage, production emissions and waste products The group places great importance on
employee health and safety through its SHE policies and the group 1s continuaily iooking for
innovative ways to reduce its energy consumption The group ensures it mummises the impact of
emissions and waste products on the local environment through continual review and improvement of
its chemical production processes and careful supply chain management The group strives for |




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (CONTINUED)

stringent comphance with local environment agency regulations and participates in the EU Emissions
Trading Scheme

Financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose 1t to a vaniety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in
price risk, credit risk, hquidity risk and interest rate nsk  The Group has in place a risk management
programme that seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where
appropriate The Group 1s exposed to commodity price risk as a result of 1ts operations and seeks to
mmitigate this risk through various purchasing strategies The Group manages 1ts credit exposures with a
set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or counterparties See note
26 of the financial statements for information on financial instruments, interest risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency nsk

Statement of directors” responsibilities 1n respect of the Annual Report and the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the group and parent company
financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the directors to prepare group and parent company financial statements for each
financial year Under that law the directors have elected to prepare the group financial statements 1n
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent
company financial statements 1n accordance with United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and parent company financial
statements and of their profit or loss for that period

In preparing each of the group and parent company financial statements, the directors are required to

s select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,

* make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

e for the group financial statements, state whether they have been prepared in accordance with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

e for the parent company financial statements, state whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained 1n the financial statements,

» prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless 1t 1s inapproprate to
presume that the group and parent company will continue 1n business, in which case there
should be supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessary

The directors confirm that they have complied with the above requirements in preparing the financial
statements

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the parent company and enable them to ensure that 1its financial statements comply
with the Companies Act 2006 They have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and the group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other uregularities

Disclosure of information to auditors

The drectors confirm that as far as they are aware, there 1s no relevant audrt informatron of which the
Group’s auditors are unaware and that they have taken all steps necessary as directors m order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware
of that information




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009 (CONTINUED)

Independent auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated thewrr willingness to continue 1n office A
resolution to reappomt PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP as auditors of the Company will be proposed at
the Annual General Meeting

By order of the Board

Agh e =8

M Stokes
Company Secretary
28 April 2010
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AUDITORS REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS GROUP
HOLDINGS PLC

We have audited the group financial statements of Ineos Group Holdings plc for the year ended 31
December 2009 which comprise the Consolhidated Income Statement, the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the Conscohdated Balance Sheet, the Consohidated Statement of Changes i
Equity and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation 1s applicable law and International Financial
Reporting Standards {(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Un:on

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explamed more fully 1n the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement set out on page 6, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view Our responsibility 1s to audit the financial statements 1n accordance with apphcable law
and International Standards on Audiung (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body n accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Compamies Act 2006 and for no other purpose
We do not, 1n giving these opinions, accept or assume responstbility for any other purpose or to any
other person to whom this report 1s shown or mto whose hands 1t may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n the financial statements
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or error This meludes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are
appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed,
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall
presentation of the financial statements

Opmion on financial statements
In our opinion the group financial statements

¢ grve atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of 1ts loss
and cash flows for the year then ended,
s have been properly prepared n accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and
¢ have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Compames Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financral year for which the group
financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the group financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report 1n respect of the following
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion

e certamn disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
s we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit




Other matter
We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of Ineos Group Heldings plc
for the year ended 31 December 2009

Steve Denison {Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne

28 Apnl, 2010
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

Revenue .

Cost of salcs before cxceptlonal items
Exceptional cost of sales

Total cost of sales

Gross profit. .. ...

Distribution costs

Admmstrative expenses before exceptional 1tems
Exceptional administrative expenses

Exceptional administrative gain

Total administrative expenses

Total expenses

Operating profit/(loss) .. e e s e

Share of profit/(loss) of associates and Jolntlv comrollcd enhities

using the equity accounting method, before exceptional items
Share of exceptional loss of associates and jomntly controlled
entities using the equity accounting method

Total share of profit/(loss) of associates and jontly controlled
entities using the equity accounting method

(Loss)/profit on disposal of businesses

Profit/(loss) before net finance costs ,.eivvvenns o

Finance income before exceptional items

Exceptional finance income

Total finance 1ncome

Finance costs before exceptional item

Exceptional finance cost

Total finance costs

Net finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax ...

Tax (charge)/credit

(Loss)/profit for theyear..... ... .. & o . i
Attributable to:

Owners of the parent

Mumnority interest

(Loss)/profit for the year

Note 2009 2008 2007
€m
2 18,077 3 29,073.3 27,5158
(16,707 9) (28,140 8) (25,182 7)
5 - (130 3) (45 9)
(16,707 9) (28,271 1) {25,228 6)
1,369.4 8022 2,2872
(425 5) (543 7) (532 4)
(361 5) {403 9) (462 6)
5 (419) 807 (56 9)
5 - 290 106 6
(403 4) (455 6) (412 9)
(8289 (999 3) (945 3)
6 540.5 (197 1) 1,341 9
237 (533) 09
5 - {4 5) {48 5)
237 (57 8) 476)
3 (276 5) {43 0 (29 6)
2877 (111.9) 1,264.7
9 951 1739 1299
5 890 - -
9 184 1 1739 1299
9 (863 8) (546 2) (870 9)
5 (209 2) - -
9 (1,073 0) (946 2) (870 9)
9 (888 9) {772 3) (741 0)
(601 2) (884 2) 5237
10 (139} J16 {121 2)
(615 1) {572 6) 402 5
6173) {(3723) 402 6
22 (03) 01N
(615.1) (572 6) 402.5

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

All amounts relate to continuing operations

1




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2009

Note 2009 2008 2007
€m
(Loss)/profit for the year  ..... .. - e eas (615 1) (572 6) 402 5
Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange translation differences net of tax 568 (184 1) 4723)
Foreign exchange differences recycled on disposal of subsidiaries
net of tax 3 (250) 135 28
Changes 1n the fair value of assets classified as available for sale
net of tax 229 - -
Net gain/(loss) on hedge of net investment in foreign operations net
of tax 26¢ 139 (40 0) 2405
Net change n fair value of cash flow hedges net of tax - 763 -
Cash flow hedge recycled from hedging reserve net of tax (76 3) - -
Actuanal gams and losses on defined benefit pension schemes net
of tax 22 (21} (241 5) 94
Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax . . (9 8) {375 8) (219 6)
Total comprehensive income for the year . ... cccniinniricons ver o (624 9) (948 4) 182 9
Total comprehensive income for the year 1s attributable to.
Owners of the parent (624 2) (946 0) 1830
Minority interest 07 (24) Q1)
(614 9) {948.4) 1829

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

Non-current assets

Property plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Investments 1 equity-accounted mvestees
Other investments

Other financial assets

Other receivables

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets. e . .
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital

Share premium

Other reserves

Retained earnings

Total shareholders’ (deficit)/funds.
Minonty interest

Total equity

Non-current habilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Trade and other payables

Employee benefits

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Current habihities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables

Tax payable

Other financial habiities

Provisions

Total habihities .. ..o . «
Total equity and habilities .

Note 2009 2008 2007
€m

I 5,093 2 54406 6,073 2

12 949 6 1,046 6 1,601 3

13a 109 6 1155 1595
14 1297 1235 -

15 822 490 533

19 168 9 1682 160 5

17 4589 4378 126 6

6,992 1 7.3812 7,574 4

I8 15447 15936 2,6083

19 19180 1,9919 33133

15 29 1594 298

29 662 1 651 8 951 4

4,127 7 43967 6,902 8

11,119 8 11,7779 14,477 2

24 177 177 177
511 511 511

(600 2) (593 3) (2196)

(387 5786 1,150 9

(570 1) 541 1,000.1

129 177 137

(557 2) 718 1,013 8

20 6,910 0 7,333 8 8034 ¢

21 782 026 970

22 824 1 7821 5532

23 554 163 4 1820

17 161 1 1951 2966

8,028 8 8.5770 9,162 8

20 8393 6156 196 7

21 27315 24516 39792

384 84 459

16 65 05 06

23 125 S3 0 782

36482 31291 4,300 6

11,677 0 11,706.1 13,463 4

11,119.8 11,777 9 14,4772

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 28 Aprii, 2010 and were signed

on 1its behalf by

it

Graeme Leask

Director

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an mtegral part of these consohdated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

Balance at 1 January 2007
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
Foreign exchange translation
differences

Foreign exchange differences
recycled on disposal of
subsidianes

Net gain on hedge of net
mvestment in foreign operations
Actuanal gamns on defined
benefit plan schemes net of tax
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly in equity:
Dividends

Balance at 31 December 2007 .

Loss for the vear

Other comprehensive tncome
Foreign exchange translation
differences

Foreign exchange differences
recycled on disposal of
subsidiaries

Net loss on hedge of net
investment 1n forergn operattons
Net change 1n fair value of cash
flow hedges, net of tax
Actuanal losses on defined
benefit plan schemes net of tax
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly 1n equity
Acquisttions (see Note 4)
Balance at 31 December 2008.
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive iIncome:
Forergn exchange translation
differences

Foreign exchange differences
recycled on disposal of
subsidiaries

Changes m the fair value of
assets classified as available for
sale

Net gain on hedge of net
mvestment 1n foreign operations
Cash flow hedge recycled from
hedging reserve net of tax
Actuarial losses on defined
benefit plan schemes net of tax
Transactions with owners,
recorded directly 1n equity:
Disposals (see Note 3)

Balance at 31 December 2009...

DECEMBER 2009
Share Share Other Retamned Sharehold- Munonity Total
capital premium reserves earnngs ers’ funds interest equity
€m
177 511 - 773.3 8421 138 8559
- - - 402 6 4026 1) 4025
. - (472 3) - 47123 - 4723)
- - 28 - 28 - 28
- - 2405 - 2405 - 2405
- - 94 - %4 - 94
- - - 250) (25 0) - {25 0)
17.7 511 (219.6) 1,150.9 1,000.1 137 1,013.8
- - - (5723) {(5723) 0 3) {572 6)
- - (1820 - (1820) @mn (184 1)
- - 135 - 135 - 135
- - (40 0) - o] - 40 0)
- - 763 - 763 - 763
- - (241 %) - (241 5) - {241 5)
- - - - - 64 64
177 s11 (5933 57846 541 17.7 718
- - - 6173) {6173) 22 (615 1)
- - 597 - 597 29 56 8
] - (250) - (250) - @50
- - 229 - 229 - 229
- - 139 - 139 - 139
- - (76 3) - (763) - (76 3)
- . 2n - 2n - @n
- - - - - “@n 41
177 51.1 (600.2) (38 7) {570 1) 129 (857 2)

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an integral part of these conselidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2009 (CONTINUED)

Analysis of other reserves

Translation Fair value Hedging Actuanial Total other
reserve reserve reserve gains/losses reserves
€m
Balance at 1 January 2007..... «ovunee e - - - - -
Foreign exchange translation differences 472 3) - - - (472 3)
Foreign exchange differences recycled
on disposal of subsidiaries 28 - - - 28
Net gain on hedge of net investment in
foreign operation 240 5 - - - 2405
Actuarial gamns and losses on defined
benefit plan schemes net of tax - - - 94 94
Balance at 31 December 2007 ... .. (229.0) - - 9.4 (219.6)
Foreign exchange transiation differences (1820 - - - (1829)
Foreign exchange differences recycled
on disposal of subsidianes 135 - - - 135
Net loss on hedge of net investment 1t
foreign operations (400) - - - (40 0)
Net change in fair value of cash flow
hedges, net of tax - - 763 - 763
Actuartal gains and losses on defined
benefit plan schemes net of tax - - - (241 5) (241 5)
Balance at 31 December 2008 . ... . (437 5) - 763 232.1) (593 3)
Foreign exchange translation differences 597 - - - 597
Foreign exchange differences recycled
on disposal of subsidiartes (25 0) - - - (25 0)
Changes 1n the fair value of assets
classified as available for sale - 229 - - 229
Net gamn on hedge of net investment in
foreign operations 139 - - 139
Cash flow hedge recycled from hedging
reserve net of tax - - (76 3) - (76 3)
Actuanal losses on defined benefit plan
schemes net of tax - - - 21 21
Balance at 31 December 2009 .. . (388 9) 229 - {234 2) {600.2)

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31

DECEMBER 2009
Note 2009 2008 2007
€m
Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the year 6i51) (572 6} 4025
Adjustments for
Depreciation and impairment 11 3957 7555 8935
Amortisation 12 204 215 160
Negative goodwil! 5 - (290) (106 6)
Net finance costs 9 888 ¢ 7723 7410
Share of (profits)/losses of equity-accounted investees 237 578 476
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 6 105 212 29
Loss/(profity on disposal of businesses 3 2765 (143 0) 296
Tax charge/(credit) 10 139 (3116) 1212
(Increase)/decrease 1n trade and other receivables (105 9) 1,306 6 (813 4)
(Increase)/decrease 1n inventories {44 4) i,1641 (500 8)
Increase/(decrease) n trade and other payables 2220 (1,673 9) 13536
(Decrease)/increase in provisions and employee benefits (234) (18) 01
Tax (recerved)/pard I11 (1217 (106 9)
Net cash from operating activities . ... 1,226.5 1,245 4 2,080 3
Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment 246 - 24
Proceeds from sales of investments - - 72
Interest and other finance income received 60 363 316
Drvidends recetved 73 37 65
Dusposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of 3 315 1903 115
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 4 ao (106 7) (222 4)
Acquisitton of intangible assets - (25 3) -
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (264 0) (624 0) (639 1)
Acquisition of other nvestments 33) 34 01
Net cash used in investing activitztes ... ... .. (261 9) (529.1) (802 4)
Cash flows from financing activities
Securitisation (148 4) (3482 255
Proceeds from new loans 1679 4100 -
Issue costs 23) (402) -
Interest paid (729 5) (646 6) (673 8)
Repayment of loans (230 5) (3840 (284 4)
Dividends paid 25 - - (25 0)
Dividends paid to munority interests - (03) -
Capital element of finance lease payment (16) {28 (14
Net cash used in financing activities. . .. e (944.4) (1,012 1) 959 1)
Net increasef{decrease) tn cash and cash equivalents 29 202 (295 8) 3188
Cash and cash equivalents at | January 29 6518 9514 6597
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held 29 38 27 1)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December. ........ 29 662.1 6518 9514

The notes on pages 17 to 90 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the vear eaded 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Overview

Ineos Group Holdings pic (the “Company™) 1s a company incorporated and domiciled 1n the
United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 The nature of the operations and principal activities
of the Company and 1ts subsidiaries are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals and refined
products used 1n a vanety of applications

Basis of accounting

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiarnes (together
referred to as the “Group”) and equity account the Group’s interest 1n associates and jointly controlled
entities

The Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance
with the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the European Union 1n response to the IAS regulation (EC 1606/2002) effective as of 31 December
2009

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to
all periods presented in these Group financial statements

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that dervative financial
wstruments and financial instruments classified as fair value through the profit or loss are stated at theiwr
fair value and non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell

Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in euro, which 1s the functional currency of the
majority of operattons The Group’s primary products are sold in an international commeodities market
which 1s priced and mmvoiced primarily in euros

All financial information presented in euro has been rounded to the nearest €0 1 million
Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following accounting standards for the first time 1n 2009 with effect
from 1 January 2009 (with prior period comparative information restated, to the extent required and as
explained below)

. IAS 23 Revised 2007 - Borrowing costs (“IAS23™),
. IAS1 Revised 2007 - Presentation of financial statements (“IAS1 (Revised)™),
. Amendments to IFRS 7 — Financial Instruments Disclosures,

. IFRS3 Revised 2008 ~ Business Combinations and [AS 27 Revised 2008 - Consohdated and
Separate Financial Statements, and

. IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation”
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Notes to the consohidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
{(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

1AS23 requires the capitalisation of borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset, in respect of quahifying
assets for which the commencement date for capitalisation 1s on or after | January 2009 Previously the
Group expensed all borrowing costs immediately IAS 23 does not require prior periods to be restated
During the year ended 31 December 2009 the Group capitalised €ni1l of borrowing costs

IAS 1 (Revised) introduces changes to the presentation of the primary financial statements but
does not impact on the underlying measurement of transactions, assets or liabiltties and accordingly net
inceme, total assets, total habilities, total equity and cash flows are not affected Comparative
information has been re-presented on a consistent basis

The amendment to IFRS7 requires enhanced disclosures about fair value measurement and
hquidity risk In particular, the amendment requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of a
fair value measurement hterarchy As the change 1n accounting policy only results m additional
disclosures, there 1s no impact on the consohidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
financial position or cash flows

The revisions to IFRS 3 Busimess Combinations and IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Fmancial Statements introduce a variety of changes to the accounting for acquisitions, including
requirements to charge transaction costs to the income statement and 1n relation to contingent
consideration However, adoption of the revisions had no material impact on the net income for the
year ended 31 December 2009 given that no significant acquisitions occurred during that year The
revisions have been apphed for all business combinations occurring after t January 2009 The change
n accounting policy 1s applied prospectively and accordingly comparative information has not been
restated

IFRIC 16 “Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foretgn Operation” applies to an entity that hedges
the foreign exchange risk arising from 1ts net immvestments in foreign operations and wishes to quahify
for hedge accounting 1n accordance with IAS 39 The main expected change n practice 1s to ehminate
the possibility of an entity qualifying for hedge accounting for a hedge of the foreign exchange
differences between the functional currency of a foreign operation and the presentation currency of the
parent’s consohdated financial statements The IFRIC recognises the difficulty that entities would face
in prepaning adequate documentation from the inception of the hedge relationship and therefore
requires prospective application of the guidance This interpretation has had no matenal impact on the
financial statements

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlied by the Group Control exists when the Group has the power,
directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity 5o as to obtain benefits
from 1ts activities In assessing control, potential voting nights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are taken into account The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the Group
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases

Special purpose entities ("SPE"’)

An SPE 1s consolidated 1f, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the
Group and the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE

The Group has established an SPE, Ineos Finance Ireland Limited, for a debt secuntisation
programme The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings 1n this SPE Ineos Finance
Ireland Limited 1s controlled by the Group as 1t was established under terms that impose strict
limitations on the decision-making powers of the SPE’s management that result in the Group receiving
the majority of the benefits related to the SPE’s operations and net assets, bemng exposed to the
majonty of nsks ansing from the SPE’s activities, and retaining the majority of the residual or
ownership risks related to the SPE and its assets Ineos Finance Ireland Limited 1s therefore regarded as
an SPE and has been consolidated 1n these financial statements
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Notes to the consohidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Associates and jontly controlled entities (equity accounted investees)

Associates are those entities in which the Group has sigmficant influence, but not control, over
the financial and operating polictes Sigmificant influence 15 presumed to exist when the Group holds
between 20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity

Jointly controiled entities are those entities over whose activities the Group has jomt control,
established by contractual agreement and requiring the venturers’ unamimous consent for strategic
financial and operating decisions

Assocrates and jontly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method (equity
accounted mnvestees) and are initially recognised at cost

The Group’s investment 1n associates and jomtly controlled entities includes goodwill identified
on acquisition, net of any accumulated impaurment losses

The Group financial statements inciude the Group’s share of the total comprehensive income
and equity movements of equity accounted investees, from the date that significant influence or joint
control commences until the date that significant influence or joint control ceases When the Group’s
share of losses exceeds 1ts interest in an equity accounted investee, the Group’s carrying amount 15
reduced to nil and recognition of further losses 1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of an investee

Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group
entities at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction Monetary assets and habilities
denominated 1n foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the
foreign exchange rate ruling at that date Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised 1n the consolidated income statement except for differences arising on the retranslation of a
financial hiabihity designated as a hedge of the net investment 1n a foreign operation, or qualifying cash
flow hedges, which are recogmised 1n other comprehensive income Non-monetary assets and habilities
that are measured m terms of historical cost 1n a foreign exchange are translated using the exchange
rate at the date of the transaction Non-monetary assets and habilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on consolidation, are translated to the Group’s presentational currency, euros, at foreign
exchange rates ruling at the reporting date The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are
translated at exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions The Group applies an average
rate for the year where this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
transactions Exchange differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly
to the translation reserve They are recycled into the consohdated income statement upon disposal

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign
operation, the settlement of which 1s neither planned nor likely m the foreseeable future, are considered
to form part of a net investment 1 a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity i the
translation reserve Foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation of a borrowing designated
as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation are recogrsed directly i equity, 1n the translation
reserve, to the extent that the hedge 1s effective When the hedged part of a net investment 15 disposed
of, the associated cumulative amount in equity 1s transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the
profit or loss on disposal

The Group has taken advantage of the relief available in IFRS 1 to deem the cumulative
translation differences for all foreign operations to be zero at the date of transition to IFRSs (1 January
2007)
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Notes to the consolidated financizl statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Classification of financual instruments issued by the Group

Financial mstruments 1ssued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet
the following two conditions

{(a) they include no contractual obiigations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial
assets or to exchange financial assets or financial habilities with another party under
conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group, and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the company’s own equity mstruments, it 1s
either a non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a vanable number of the
company’s own equity instruments or 1s a derivative that will be settled by the company’s
exchanging a fixed amount of cash or other financtal assets for a fixed number of its own
equity mstruments

To the extent that thus definition 1s not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial
habihty Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the company’s own shares, the
amounts presented 1n these financial statements for called up share capital and share premmm account
exclude amounts 1n relation to those shares

Non-derivafive financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise 1nvestments n equity and debt securities, trade
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables

Trade and other recervables

Trade and other receivabies are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction cosis that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or 1ssue  Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective mterest method, less any impairment losses

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recogmsed initially at fair value less transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or 1ssue  Subsequent to inittal recognition they are measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method

Investments i debt and equity securities
Investments n loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment

Other investments 1n debt and equity securities held by the Group are classified as being
available-for-sale and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised directly
mn equity (in a fair value reserve), except for impatrment losses and, 1n the case of monetary items such
as debt securinies, foreign exchange gains and losses When these investments are derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recogmsed directly in equity 1s recogmised in profit or loss Where
these mvestments are interest-bearing, mterest calculated using the effective interest method 1s
recogmsed m profit or loss Where no reliable measurement of fair value 1s available, available-for-sale
mvestments are stated at historic acquisition cost (see Note 15)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a
component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction
costs Subsequent to imitial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any impairment losses
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financizl statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Debt restructuring

The Group derecogmses financial habilities 1n accordance with the provisions in [AS 39 When
debt 15 modified, the Group analyses the modifications from both a quantitative and qualitative
perspective to determine 1f the modifications are substantial and meet the IFRS requirements for
derecognition, in which case the debt 1s treated as extinguished All fees paid in connection with a debt
extinguishment are expensed immedately When a modification 1s accounted for as a non-substantial
modification, associated fees incurred are deferred as an adjustment to the carrying value of the
liabiftty and amortised using the effective interest method

Derwvative financial instruments and hedging

Dervative financial instruments

Denvative financial instruments are recognised at fair value The gain or loss on
remeasurement to farr value 1s recognised immedsately in the consolidated income statement as finance
mcome or expense Where dervatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain
or loss depends on the nature of the item bemng hedged (see below)

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument 1s designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows
of a recognised asset or hability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain
or loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly 1n the hedging reserve Any
ineffective portion of the hedge 15 recognised immediately 1n the consolidated income statement as
finance income or expense

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or
non-financtal hability, the associated cumulative gain or loss 1s removed from the hedging reserve and
15 included n the inihial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liabihty

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or
a financial lability, the associated pains and losses that were recognised directly 1n equity are
reclassified inte profit or loss 1n the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or hability
assumed affects profit or loss, e g when nterest income or expense 1s recognised

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the
assoclated cumulative gain or loss 15 removed from equity and included 1n the consolidated ncome
statement as an adjustment to turnover and cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the
hedged forecast transaction affects turmover and cost of sales in the consolhidated income statement

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or the Group revokes
designation of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction 1s still expected to occur, the
cumulative gan or loss at that point remains in equity and 1s recognised 1n accordance with the above
policy when the transaction occurs If the hedged transaction 1s no longer expected to take place, the
cumulative unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity 1s recognised n the consolidated income
statement immedately

Hedge of net investment n foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation
of a foreign currency loan where the loan 1s designated as a hedge of a net investment 1n a foreign
operation in accordance with IAS 21 and [AS 39

Exchange differences anising on retranslation of foreign currency loans designated as a net
mvestment hedge are taken directly to equity via the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(iains and losses accumulated in the translation reserve will be recycled to the statement of
comprehensive income when the foreign operation 1s sold
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Notes to the consohdated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses

Cost includes expenditure that 15 directly attnibutable to the acquisition of the asset Cost may
meclude the cost of materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a
working condition for their intended use Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and removing
1items and restoring the site on which they are located

Where parts of an 1item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items of property, plant and equipment

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the nsks and rewards of ownership of the
leased asset are classified as finance leases Where land and buildings are held under leases the
accounting treatment of the land 1s considered separately from that of the buildings Leased assets
acquired by way of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower of therr fair value and the
present value of the mimimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation
and less accumulated impairment losses Lease payments are accounted for as described below

Depreciation 1s charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment Depreciation
commences from the date an asset 1s brought into service Land and assets 1n the course of
construction are not depreciated The estimated useful lives are as follows

. Buildings 10 - 40 years
. Plant and equipment and fixtures and fittings 3 - 40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Where an
indicator of impatrment exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount, which 1s the
higher of the asset’s fair value less cost to sell and value 1n use Where the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds Its recoverable amount, the asset 15 considered impaired and 1s written down to s recoverable
amount

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to
anse from the continued use of the asset Any gain or loss arising on de-recogmtion of the asset
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) 1s
included n the conselidated income statement 1n the pertod in which the item 15 derecognised

Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the purchase method Goodwill
represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and jomtly controlled entities In
respect of business acquisitions that have occurred since 1 January 2007, goodwill represents the
difference between the cost of the acquisition and the net fair value of the 1dentifiable assets, habilities
and contingent habilities acquired For any acquisitions occurrmg on or after 1 January 2009, all
transaction costs are expensed as incurred

Goodwill 1s stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses Goedwill 1s allocated to
groups of cash-generating units and 1s not amortised but 1s tested annually for impawment In respect of
equity accounted investees, the carrying amount of goodwill 1s included 1n the carrying amount of the
investment in the investee

IFRS 1 grants certain transition exemptions from the full requirernents of IFRSs 1n the transition
period The Group elected not to restate business combinations that took place prior to 1 January 2007
In respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2007, goodwill 1s included at 1 January 2007 on the basis
of its deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly
comparable to IFRS save that only separable intangible assets were recogmsed and goodwill was
amortised On transition to [FRS amortisation of goodwill has ceased and negative goodwill
recognised under UK GAAP 15 included within retained earnings
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Negative goodwill arising on an acquisition 1s recogmsed immedately n the consolidated
Income statement

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses These intangible assets principally compnise intellectual property
rights, customer relationships, non-compete agreements and hicense fees

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried mitially at cost The initial cost
15 the aggregate amount pad and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets An
mtangible asset acquired as part of a business combination 15 recogrised separately from goodwill 1f
the asset 15 separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured
reliably

Amortisation

Amortisation 1s charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the
estmated useful hves of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite Intangible assets with an
indefinite useful life and goodwill are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date
Other intangible assets are amortised from the date they are available for use The estimated useful
fives are as follows

. Customer relationships 3 years

. Intellectual property rights 10 — 15 years

. Non-compete agreements hfe of the agreement
. Licenses up to 15 years

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or
changes 1n circumstances 1ndicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable Useful lives are
exarnined on an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities 1s recognised 1n the consolidated income statement as an
expense as mcurred

Expenditure on development activities 1s capitalised 1f the product or process 1s technicaily and
commercially feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to
complete development, future economic benefits are probable and 1f the Group can measure reliably
the expenditure attributable to the mtangible asset during its development Development activities
mvolve a plan or design for the production of new or substanually improved products or processes
The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion
of overheads Where regulatory and other uncertainties are such that the critera are not met, the
expenditure 1s recognised in the ncome statement  Other development expenditure 1s recognised n the
mcome statement as an expense as incurred Caprtalised development expenditure is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and less accurnulated impairment losses

Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are assessed at the end of the reporting peried to
determine whether there 15 any indication of impairment A financial asset 15 considered to be impaired
if objective evidence wndicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s
estimated

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful hfe and intangible assets
that are not yet available for use, the recoverable amount 15 estimated at the end of the reporting period

An impamrment loss 15 recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or 1ts cash-
generating unit exceeds 1ts recoverable amount Impairment losses are recognised 1n the consolhidated
mcome statement
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Notes to the conschidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis A cash generating unit 1s the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets

Goodwill, assets that have an indefimte useful hife and intangible assets that are not yet available
for use were tested for impawrment as at | January 2007, the date of transition to IFRSs, even though no
indication of inpairment existed

When a declhine n the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised
directly in equity and there 1s objective evidence that the asset 15 umpaired, the cumulative loss that had
been recogmised directly 1n equity 15 recognised 1n profit or loss even though the financial asset has not
been derecognised The amount of the cumulatve loss that 15 recognised 1n profit or foss 1s the
difference between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
financial asset previously recognised 1n profit or loss

Calenlation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group’s receivables 1s calculated as the present value of
estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (1 e the effective interest
rate computed at mnitial recognition of these financial assets) Receivables are not discounted where
therr duration 1s less than one year or where the effect of discounting 1s not materal

The recoverable amount of other assets 1s the greater of their fair values less costs to sell and
value in use In assessing value 1n use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 15
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss 1n respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised
cost 1s reversed 1f the subsequent increase 1n recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised

Anmpairment loss 1n respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available
for sale 1s not reversed through profit or loss If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available-for-sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised 1n profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss

An impairment loss 1n respect of goodwill 1s not reversed

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss 15 reversed when there 1s an indication that the
imparment loss may no tonger exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount

An impairment loss 1s reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, 1f no
imparrment loss had been recognised

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value Cost includes expenditure
incurred 1 acquiring the mventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in bringing them
to their existing location and condition In the case of manufactured inventories and work 1n progress,
cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity Provision 1s made
for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropnate

Items owned by the Group that are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are
included as part of the Group’s inventory
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of
non-financial items in accordance with the company’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements
(own-use contracts) are not accounted for as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory
contracts

Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans and funded and unfunded defined
benefit pension schemes The Group also provides unfunded early retirement benefits, long service
awards and an incentive plan for certain employees

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants,
primarily in the United States and Belgium

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan 1s a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays
fixed contributions 1nto a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense 1n the consolidated income statement as mcurred

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan 1s a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan
The Group’s net obligation 1n respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post employment
benefits 1s calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned tn return for their service 1n the current and prior periods, that benefit 15
discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets {at bid price) are
deducted The liability discount rate 1s the yield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds
denomunated n the currency of, and that have maturity dates approximating to the terms of, the
Group’s obligations The calculation 1s performed by a qualified actuary using the projected umt credit
method

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past
service by employees 15 recognised as an expense in the consolidated income statement on a straight-
line basis over the average period until the benefits become vested To the extent that the benefits vest
immediately, the expense 1s recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement

All actuarial gains and losses as at 1 January 2007, the date of transition to IFRSs, were
recognised In respect of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to 1 January 2007, the Group
recogmses them 1n the period they occur directly in equity through the statement of comprehensive
income

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised 1s limited to the net
total of any unrecognised actuarial losses and past service costs and the present value of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that 1t 1s recoverable) or deficit 1s recogmsed  full
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit 1s split between

. cost of sales,
. net finance costs and,
. in net expense recognised directly in equity, the actuarial gains and losses
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are
expensed as the related service 1s provided A habuility 1s recognised for the amount expected to be paid
under short-term cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation
can be estumated relably

Incentrve plan

Certain employees of the Group are eligible to participate 1n an incentive plan (the Plan)
operated by Ineos Limited, the ultimate parent of Ineos Group Holdings plc in the United Kingdom
Ineos Limited 1ssues “Business Tracker Shares” in relation to each of the businesses operated by Ineos
Limited and 1ts subsidiartes, including those businesses withm the Ineos Group Holdings plc group
These Business Tracker Shares entitle the holder of the share to appreciation in market value (rather
than the totality of the market value) of the relevant business compared with the market value at the
date of acquisition of the relevant share Determination of market values, and any discretionary
adjustments, 1s made by a commuttee (the Spectal Commuttee) of Ineos Limited

The Plan 15 considered to be in the nature of a Share-based Payment arrangement within the
scope of IFRS 2 The Ineos Group Holdings plc group neither receives nor makes any payments and
incurs no liabilities in respect of its employees’ participation 1n the Plan Under IFRS 2 (as amended 1n
June 2009 for “Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions” which the Directors have
elected to adopt early) the Group recognises any deemed cost of the arrangement m accordance with
the requirements applicable to equity-settled share-based payment transactions, with a corresponding
mcrease 1n equity as a contribution from the parent Participating employees purchase Business Tracker
Shares from the Trust which administers the Plan at a price which 1s related to the approximate market
value of the relevant Business Unit Accordingly the Directors believe that the net fair value of the
benefit at the date of grant after taking account of the payment for the shares 1s not significant and no
cost has been recognised in these financial statements

Provisions

A provision 1s recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, that can be reliably measured and 1t 1s probable
that an cutflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation Prowvisions are determined
by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the labihty

Share caprtal

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the 1ssue of
new shares are shown 1n equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds

Revenue

Revenue represents the mvoiced value of products sold or services provided to third parties net
of sales discounts, value added taxes and duties Revenue i1s recognised when the sigmificant rsks and
rewards of ownership have passed to the buyer and 1t can be reliably measured

The pricing for products sold 1s determined by market prices (market contracts and
arrangements) or 1 linked by a formula to published raw matenal prices plus an agreed additional
amount (formula contracts) Revenue arsing from the sale of goods ts recognised when the goods are
either dispatched or delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms and the point at which risks and
rewards have been transferred to the buyer when the prices are determinable and when collectability 1s
constdered probable

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to
other chemical companies with units on our sites and services under tolling arrangements Under
tolling arrangements, customers pay for or provide raw materials to be converted into a certain
specified product, for which the Group charges a toll fee The Group only recogmses the toll fee as
revenue earned under such arrangements upon shipment of the converted product to the customer as
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

this 1s the poimt at which risks and rewards have been transferred to the buyer For all other services,
revenue 1s recognised upon completion of the service provided

Gavernment grants

Government grants are shown 1n the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income This
tncoime 15 amortised on a straight line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to which 1t
relates or the life of the related project

Expenses

Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease Lease incentives received are recogmsed 1n the
consolidated income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding hability The finance charge 1s allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
produce a constant pertodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability

Finance income and expenses

Interest income and interest payable 1s recognised in the consolidated income statement as 1t
accrues, using the effective interest method Dividend income 1s recogmised 1n the consolidated income
statement on the date the entity’s right to receive payments 1s established Foreign exchange gains and
losses are reported on a net basis

Finance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on finance leases, unwinding of the
discount on provisions, net fair value losses derivatives and net foreign exchange losses that are
recognised in the consolidated incomne statement (see foreign exchange accounting pohcy) Finance
Income comprise interest recervable on funds mnvested, expected return on defined benefit pension plan
assets, net fair value gain on denvatives and net foreign exchange gains

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year compnises current and deferred tax Tax 1s recogmsed 1n the
consolidated mcome statement except to the extent that 1t relates to ttems recognised directly 1n equity,
in which case 1t 15 recognised 1n equity

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable
In respect of previous years

Deferred tax 1s provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financia! reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes The following
temporary differences are not provided for the initial recognition of goodwill, the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business
combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will
probably not reverse 1n the foreseeable future The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and habalities, using tax
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period A deferred tax asset 1s
recognised only to the extent that 1t is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised

Segmental analysis

The Group determines its operating segments it a manner consistent with the mternal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker The chief operating decision-maker, who 1s responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the
Board of Directors
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An operating segment 1s a component of the Group that engages in business activities from
which 1t may earn revenues and mcur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to
transactions with any of the Group’s other components and for which discrete financial information 1s
available An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the Board of Directors to
make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and assess 1ts performance

The Group’s primary format for segment reporting 1s based on business segments The business
segments are determmined based on the Group’s management and internal reporting structure and the
aggregation criteria set out in IFRS 8

Segment results that are reported to the Board of Directors nclude items directly attributable to
a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis Unallocated items comprise
mainly corporate assets and liabihities (primanly the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses,
and mcome tax assets and habilites

Segment capital expenditure 1s the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets other than as acquired through business combinations

Emisston trading scheme

The Group participates 1n the EU Emissions Trading Scheme The Scheme encourages
compantes to reduce carbon emissions by offering financial incentives 1f they achieve their annual
reduction targets If a company reduces emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded
in the form of emissions permits

The incentive meney due from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme 1s recognised 1n the
consolidated income statement once the reduction targets have been met The emussions permits
allocated under the Scheme are at mil cost The Group recognises the revenue from such permits upon
therr sale to third parties

The Kyoto Protecol sets legally binding targets for cutting emissions and provides for three
international “flexible mechamisms” to be used by developed countries in cost effectively meeting their
greenhouse gas emissions targets, one of which 1s the Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM™} This
permits industrialised countries to meet part of thewr commitments through projects in devetoping
countries The CDM programme provides incentives for the project participants 1n the form of Certified
Emissions Reductions (“CERs™) 1t 15 the trading of these CERs that provides the market incentive to
reduce emissions The Group 15 involved 1n a number of CDM projects CERs produced from these
projects are recorded at nil cost CERs purchased from third parties are recognised within stock on the
basis of purchased cost The Group recognises the revenue from sale of CERs upon their sale to third
parties

The Group recognises a provision for emissions produced The provision 1s measured at the
carrying amount of the emission rights held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, 1n the case of a
shortfall, at the current fair value of the emission rights needed

Exceptional items

The presentation of the Group’s results separately 1dentifies the effect of profits and losses on
the disposal of businesses, the impairment of non-current assets, the cost of restructuring acquired
businesses and the impact of one off events such as legal settlements as exceptional 1tems Results
excluding disposals, impairments, restructuring costs and one off items are used by management and
are presented in order to provide readers with a clear and consistent presentation of the underlying
operating performance of the Group s ongoiwng business

Accounting standards not applied

The following IFRSs relevant to the Group were available for early application but have not
been applied by the Group n these financial statements Their adoption 1s not expected to have a
material effect on the financial statements unless otherwise indicated
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Improvement {0 IAS 36 “Impawrment of Assets” (effective prospectively for periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2010) This improvement clanfied that each unit or group of units to which
goodwill 1s allocated should not be larger than an operating unit as defined by paragraph 5 of
IFRS 8 ‘Operating Segments’ before aggregation The standard 1s only applicable
prospectively The Group 15 assessing the impact of this improvement

IFRIC 17 “Dustribution of non-cash assets to owners (effective on or after | July 2009) The
interpretation 15 part of the IASB’s annual improvement project published 1n April 2009 This
Interpretation provides guidance on accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes
non-cash assets to shareholders either as a distribution of reserves or as dividends IFRS 5 has

- also been amended to requaire that assets are classified as held for distribution only when they
are available for distribution 1n their present condition and the distribution 1s highly probable
The Group will apply IFRIC 17 from | January 2010 The Group 1s assessing the impact of this
mterpretation

OPERATING SEGMENTS

The determination of the Group’s operating segments 1s based on the business umits for which

information 1s reported to the Group’s Chief Operating Decision Maker The Group has four reportable
segments, as described below

The Group’s Olefins and Polymers business units produce olefins and related products and a
broad range of polymers The Group’s olefins businesses are focused on ethylene and

propylene, which are the two largest volume olefins globally and are key building blocks for
polymers These olefins are primarily used as feedstock for the Group’s polymers business In
addition, the Group sells olefins to third party customers for a variety of industrial and consumer
applications, including plastics, rubber and fibre

O&P North America segment — In North America, the group’s Olefins and Polymers business
comprises five sites including major facilities in Chocolate Bayou, Texas, and Battleground,
Texas

O&P Europe segment — In Europe, the Group owns and operates three major cracker complexes,
two that are integrated with our refineries in Grangemouth, United Kingdom and Lavéra, France
and one 1n Cologne, Germany Each of these sites includes polymers and derivatives units

Refining — Onl refining 1s the process of separating, converting and treating hydrocarbon
molecules present in crude o1l to produce marketable finished petroleum products, such as
gasoline, diesel, liquefied petroleum gas (‘LPG’), naphtha, heating and fuel o1ls and bitumen
Refining 1s primartly a margin based bustness where both the feedstocks and refined petroleum
products are commodities The Group owns and operates two refineries which are both fully
integrated with petrochemical plants located at the same sites  The Group's principal refining
preducts are transport fuels (particularly diesel fuel and gasoline), LPG, naphtha, and heating
and fizel oils

Chemical Intermediates — This reportable segment 1s the aggregation, in comphiance with IFRS
8, of a number of different busimness units with similar economic and other characteristics
Chemical Intermedates are high-value added chemical products used as key components mn a
variety of consumer and industnal products The Group's chemucal intermediates businesses are
exposed to similar key commodities, namely o1l and gas They produce a range of products
including phenol, alpha olefins, solvents, industrial chemicals, chlorine, PVC,
hydrofluorocarbons, specialty fluorochemicals and nitriles The Chemical Intermediates
processes are similar in that they are all capital intensive and based upon processing and mixing
chemical raw matenals to produce chemical products for the next stage along the value chain
The Chemical Intermediates products are distributed on a business-to-business basis across the
world This 1s performed using similar conventional methods of pipeline, truck, rait or ship
container depending on the customer location and size of the order The Chemacal Intermediates
customer base 1s stmilar 1n that the customers are generally manufacturers of consumer and
industriai products in developed markets and mature industrial economies
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The accounting policies of all of the reportable segments are as described 1n Note i

Information regarding the operations of each reportable segment 15 included 1n the following
tables Performance 1s measured based on earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation
and exceptional items other than exceptional cost of sales items, measured under UK GAAP (“Segment
EBITDA”) except that share of associate’s revenue 1s not allocated to segments as would be the case
under UK GAAP Segment EBITDA 1s used to measure performance as management believes that
such information 1s the most relevant in evaluating the results of certain segments relative to other
entities that operate within these industries Inter-segment pricing 1s determined on an arm’s length
basis Information regarding segments reviewed by management includes management accounts
comprising the balance sheet, profit or loss, cash flows and other financial and non financial
information used to manage the business

Adjustments in the following tables comprise the following items

. Corporate assets and liabilities such as the Group headquarters, investments in associates and
Joint ventures and the major group borrowings,

. Ehmination of inter-segmental transactions and balances, and

. Dnfferences ansing from conversion of UK GAAP to IFRS These include treatment of negative

goodwill, amortisation of goodwill, accounting for derivatives, treatment of deferred tax on
pensions and accounting for joint ventures
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2 OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment information - 2009

Reportable segments Total of
o&P Chemtcal report- Amounts in
North O&P Inter- able Adjust- financial
America Europe Refining mediates segments ments statements
€m
Reportable segment
revenue 2,166 3 4,634 3 69417 7.3544 21,0967 (3,019 4) 18,0773
Reportable segment
EBITDA 276 5 170 8 2287 5462 1,2222 - 1,222 2
Depreciation and
impairment of property,
plant and equipment and
intangible assets (103 4) (148 6} 20N (266 3) (6104) 67 {616 1)
Exceptional 1items
{excluding 1temns relating
to impatrment and
financing) (15 0) (79 - (150) 419) - 419
Loss on disposal of
businesses - - - (220 D) (2201 (56 4) (276 5)
Net finance costs (888 9)
Loss before tax (601 2)
Share of profit of
associates and jointly
controlled entities 09 66 - 138 213 24 237
Reportable segment assets 964 0 2,559 4 1,564 2 3,8352 8,9228 2,1970 111198
Payments for capital
expenditure 314 480 707 1139 2640 - 264 ¢
Reportable segment
habihities 489 6 694 8 1,012 3 20182 4,2149 7,462 1 11,677 0

Major items 1n the adjustments column include

. Reportable segment revenues the elimination of inter-segmental revenues 2009 €3,019 mullion
(2008 €8,424 million, 2007 €7,698 million)
. Reportable segment assets assets not allocated to segments, including goodwill 2009 €852

million (2008 €902 million, 2007 €865 million), cash 2009 €544 million (2008 €470 mlhion,
2007 €663 milhon) and deferred tax 2009 €459 mullion (2008 €438 million, 2007 €127
million)

. Reportable segment Liabilities liabilities not allocated to segments including corporate
borrowings under the Senior Facilities Agreement €5,004 milhion (2008 €4,929 million, 2007
€4,897 million), Senior Notes €1,970 milhon (2008 €2,089 miilion, 2007 €2,063 miliion),
accrued nterest of €186 mullion (2008 €157 mullion, 2007 €146 million) and deferred tax €161
millhon (2008 €195 million, 2007 €297 million)
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment information - 2008

Reportable segments

Total of
o&pP Chemical report- Amounts in
North O&P Inter- able Adjust- financal
America Europe Refining mediates segments ments statements
€m
Reportable segment
revenue 2,950 9 9,946 6 11,757 7 12,842 3 374975 (8,424 2) 29,0733
Reportable segment
EBITDA 262 101 4 43 4 4225 5935 (152) 578 3
Depreciation and
impairment of property,
plant and equipment and
intangible assets (114 7) (190 6) 932) (398 6) (797 1) 201 (777 0)
Exceptional items
(excluding ttems relating
to umpairment and
financing) 35 (12 8) - (354) 517 (45) (56 2)
Profit on disposal of
businesses - - - 1430 143 0 - 143 0
Net finance costs {772 3)
Loss before tax (884 2)
Share of (loss) / profit of
associates and jontly
controlled entities 04 g6 - 492) 40 2) (17 6) (578)
Reportable segment assets 1,133 6 29458 1,5102 4,0613 0.6509 2,1270 11,777 9
Payments for capital
expenditure 578 152 0 505 3237 6240 - 6240
Reportable segment
liabilities 5739 7417 951 9 1,902 9 4,170 4 7.5357 11,706 1
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2. OPERATING SEGMENTS (Continued)

Segment information - 2007

Reportable segments

Total of
O&P Chemical report- Amounts in
North Oo&P Inter- able Adjust- financial
America Europe Refining mediates segments ments statements
€m
Reportable segment
revenue 3,036 8 9,696 9 9,426 § 13,053 i 35,2133 (7,697 5) 27,515 8
Reportable segment
EBITDA 2420 5262 4274 1,025 2 22208 (18 2} 2,202 6
Depreciation and
impairment of property,
plant and equipment and
intangible assets (189 8) (156 0) (115 6) (424 4) (885 8) 237 (909 5)
Exceptional items
(excluding 1tems relating
to impairment and
financing} - (28 3) 46) 826 497 (48 5) 12
Loss on disposal of
businesses - - - - - (29 6) (29 6)
Net finance costs (741 0)
Loss before tax 5237
Share of profit/(loss) of
assoctates and jointly
controlled entihies 01 11 - 112 124 (60 0) (47 6)
Reportable segment assets 1,287 6 4,1250 22492 48776 12 5394 1,9378 14,477 2
Payments for capital
expenditure 397 1703 877 3414 6391 - 6391
Reportable segment
habilities 3963 15320 12772 2,783 5 59890 7,474 4 13,463 4
For analysis of impairment by segment, see Note 5
Geographic segments
Revenues
2009 2008 2007
Geographical informatron by location of customers: €m
Europe 13,2152 22,0025 20,3750
Americas 3,2553 54293 56142
Rest of World 1 6068 16415 1,526 6
10 18,0773 29,073 3 17,5158
Geographical information by location from which the Group
derives revenue
Europe 142296 232171 20.8812
Americas 34200 53658 6,308 8
Rest of World 4277 490 4 3258
Total . e e e e ee e e e 18,077 3 29,073.3 27,5158

In presenting information on the basis of geographic analysis of segments, segment revenue 1s
based on the geographical location of customers and geographical locations from which the Group

denves revenues

Revenues from external customers for each product and service or each group of similar
products and services and a geographic analysis of segment assets are also not presented as the

necessary information 1s not available and the Directors are of the opinion that the cost to develop 1t

would be excessive
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Major customer

Revenues from one customer of the Group’s Refining segment represent €2,918 5 million (2008
€7,614 5 million, 2007 €6,563 8 million) of the Group’s total revenues

3. DISPOSALS

2009 disposals
Summary
__ 2009
€m

Disposals to Ineos Industries (169 6)
Addional commitment to entities sold to Ineos Industries 750
Disposal of Compounds Italia (43 5)
Further consideration from the disposal of the Silicas business in 2008 116
Net foss on disposal of businesses . .. .. . . ... wer e eeeeeene oo (276 5)

Ineos Industries

During 2009, the Group made a number of disposals to a related party, Ineos Industries Limited,
an entity held under common control by the Group’s ultimate shareholders The Group received no
consideration for the disposals which included the Group’s ABS, Styrenics, Melamines and Films Italia
businesses, together with 80% of the Group’s Bie and Healthcare businesses The remaining 20% of
Bio and Healthcare businesses, which the Group still owns at 31 December 2009, are accounted for as
associated undertakings (see Note 13 a) Of the total loss on these disposais €3 0 million 15 attributable
to the recognition of the retained 1nterests at their estimated fair value of €nil

Effect of the aggregated disposals on individual assets and habilities

2009
€m
Goodwill 457
Property, plant and equipment 764
Intangible assets 292
Provisions against joint ventures (202)
Inventones 812
Cash 298
Trade and other receivables 2522
Employee benefits (29 4)
Trade and other payables (215 6)
Provisions including net deferred tax habihity (52 1)
Minority mterests (4 1)
Net assets disposed of 1931
Costs of disposal 15
Proceeds -
Deficit of net assets over proceeds received 194 6
Exchange differences recycled on disposal 250)
Loss on disposals of bUSINESSES .vc.cevenes corerss on . ce e ... . 169.6
As part of the disposal agreement the Group has committed to provide further support to the

businesses disposed of for the purpose of working capital management of €75 mullion and has therefore

included this amount within the loss on disposal Management believe it 1s likely that this amount will

be called upon by the businesses within one year and have therefore provided for it on disposal as a |
current hability  [f any amount 1s not called upon within five years the Group must remit the remaining \
balance at that point The amount has been included i the loss on disposal in the income statement but

1s not included within the net assets above
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3. DISPOSALS (Continued)
Compounds ltala

On 22 January 2009, the Group completed the sale of the Compounds Italhia business to a third
party The Group disposed of its entire investment for nominal consideratzon

Effect of the disposal on individual assets and habilities

__ 2009

€m
Property, plant and equipment 266
Inventones 99
Cash 17
Trade and other receivables 243
Trade and other payables (152)
Provisions 47
Net assets disposed 426
Costs of disposal 09
Proceeds -
Loss on disposal e e e e e e e e 435
Other

During 2009, the Group received further consideration from the disposal of the Silicas business
which occurred in the prior year The additional consideration received from PQ Corporation, the entity
which acquired the Silicas business during 2008, was €11 6 million and was settled by PQ Corporation
waving a liabihity owed to the Group This amount has been offset against the loss on disposal of
businesses presented 1n the income statement

2008 disposals

Ineos Silicas

On 2 July 2008 the Group completed the sale of the Ineos Silicas busiess to PQ Corporation,
the speciality chemical company owned by The Carlyle Group and Ineos Investments LLP (see Note
14), for a total consideration of €304 0 mullion, of which €198 5 million was received 1n cash A pre-
tax gain of €143 0 million was recorded
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3. DISPOSALS (Continued)

Effect of the disposal on individual assets and habilities

Goodwll

Property, plant and equipment
Investments

Inventones

Cash

Trade and other recetvables
Employee benefits

Trade and other payables
Provisions

Net assets disposed

Excess of sale proceeds over net assets
Total sales proceeds ... .

Sales proceeds satisfied by

Cash

Preferred partnership investment in Ineos [nvestments LLP
Total sales proceeds .

Profit recognised 1n the consohidated income statement
Excess of sale proceeds over net assets
Exchange differences recycled on disposal

Profit on disposal of businesses e e

Other disposals

2008

€m
26
103 7
035
229
131
109 5
07
(70 0)

174 5
129 5
304.0

198 5
1055
304.0

1295
135
143 0

During 2008 the Group received cash of €4 9 million being deferred consideration on the

disposal of the Emulsion PVC (E-PVC) business which took place on 2 July 2007

2007 disposals

On 2 July, 2007 the Group completed its disposal of the Emulsion PVC (E-PVC) business to
Vinnolit GmbH & Co KG, for a total consideration of €16 6 million The sate consisted of the
commercial goodwill of the Ineos ChlorVinyls E-PVC business along with 1ts E-PVC production
facilities at Hillhouse (UK) and Schkopau (Germany) The deal also included an agreement for

Vinnolit to take off the entire E-PVC output at Porto Torres (Italy)

On 1 Octeber, 2007 the Group entered into a 50 50 joint venture with Nova Chemicals in North
America The Group contributed 1ts North American styrene and polystyrene assets (Styrenics) at 1ts
Texas City and Joliet sites, whilst Nova Chemicals contributed 1ts Styrenics business unit and other
styrenics polymer assets Together with the existing jomt venture in Europe, the enlarged joint venture

1s called Ineos Nova
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Effect of the disposal on individual assets and liabilities

E-PVC Styrenics Total
€m

Property, plant and equipment 450 - 450
Inventories 76 858 934
Trade and other recervables 18 921 939
Trade and other payables (5) (712) @27
Net assets disposed 529 106 7 1596
Deficit of sale proceeds over net assets {363) 235 (3838)
Total sales proceeds.. . . . .. .. e . 16 6 104 2 120.8
Sales proceeds satisfied by
Cash 115 - 115
Deferred consideration 51 - 51
Share of joint venture (Note 13 a) - 104 2 104 2
Total sales proceeds . . . . e e e 16 6 104 2 1208
(Loss)Y/profit recognised 1n the income statement
Deficit of sale proceeds over net assets (36 3) 25) (388)
Exchange differences recycled on disposal - 28 28
(Loss)/profit on disposal of bUSINESSES .cvrerrins vorers e . (36 3) 03 (36 0)

The net loss on disposal of businesses in the consolidated income statement includes a gain of
€6 4 million 1n relation to other investments

4. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES

2009 Acquisitions

No acquisitions were made i 2009 A further €1 0 million was paid with regard to
acquisitions made 1n prior years

2008 Acquisitions

Acquisitions were made 1n 2008 for a total consideration of €120 2 milhon including acquisition
expenses These acquisitions gave rise to positive goodwilt of €19 1 million and negative goodwill of
€29 0 milhon Negative goodwill has been recognised 1n admimstrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement All acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method, as required by
IFRS 3

The adjustments required to the book values of the assets and liabilities of the businesses
acquired during the year in order to present the net assets of the business at fair values, together with
the resultant amount allocated to goodwill, are set out below

VAM/EtAe
Fair value
Book value adjustments  Fair value
€m

Property, plant and equipment 216 - 216
Inventory 244 18 262
Trade and other receivables 68 - 68
Net assets acquured 528 i8 546
Goodwill 06
Consideration (including acquisition expenses) 552

On 31 March 2008 the Group acquired the European VAM and EtAc businesses, together with
the TSEP pipeline from BP The production assets acquired are based at Saltend in the United
Kingdom The newly acquired business now forms part of the Chemical Intermediates segment
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4. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A revaluation of inventories by €1 8 million was made to reflect the fair value of catalyst
inventories acquired at acquisition

In the period from acquisition date to 31 December 2008 the European VAM and EtAc
businesses, together with the TSEP pipeline contnbuted revenue of €206 1 million and profit before tax
of €8 4 million It 1s not practicable to provide information regarding revenue and profit before tax
since 1 January 2008 as this information was not provided by the vendor

Goedwil] arising on the acquisition relates to expected future business improvement, expected
synergies of the acquusition and the quality of the workforce n the business

Seal Sands
Fair value
Book value adjustments Farr value
€m

Property, plant and equipment 407 (68) 339
Inventory 247 - 247
Provisions (33 - (33)
Deferred tax lrability - (107) (107)
Net assets acquired 62 | (175) 446
Negative goodwill recogmsed as an administrative gain (25 0)
Consideration (including acquisition expenses) 156

On 18 August 2008 the Group acquired the Seal Sands business on Teesside in the Unted
Kingdom from BASF The Seal Sands site provides large-scale production facilities for acrylonitrile
(AN} and hexamethylenedtamine (HMD), along with by-product plants The total consideration,
including acquisttion expenses was €15 6 million The newly acquired business now forms part of the
Nitriles business within the Chemical Intermediates segment

A revaluation of tangible fixed assets by €6 8 million was made to reflect the lower of
depreciated replacement cost and the value 1n use based on discounted cash flows for the assets A
deferred tax hability 15 recognised regarding negative goodwill arising on the acquisition and 1s
included as a fair value adjustment

The assets acquired were carved out of an existing business and as such there 1s no historic
financial information available for these assets prior to acquisition In the period from acquisition date
to 31 December 2008 the Seal Sands business contributed revenue of €85 5 million and a loss before
tax of €23 0 million Had the Seal Sands business been acquired at the beginning of the period 1t would
have contributed revenue of €294 3 million  The contribution to profit or loss from 1 January 2008
cannot be presented as no separate profit information for this business was prepared by the vendor prior
to the acquisition date

This acquisition, on which negative goodwill arose, was a bargain purchase due to 1its poor
trading performance and future earnings expectations which would continue until a change plan could
be implemented by the Group

ABS India
Fair value
Book value adjustments Fair value
€m

Property, plant and equipment 59 174 233
Inventory 104 - 104
Trade and other recervables 16 4 - 16 4
Cash 135 - 135
Trade and other payables (26 3} - {26 3)
Net assets acquired 199 17 4 373
Minonty terest 64)
Net assets acquired (net of minority interest) 309
Goodwill 185
Consideration (including acquisition expenses) 494
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4. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

On 2 October 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the Lanxess ABS plastic business, Lustran
Polymers (see 2007 below) At that time the Indian part of the business was not acqured, although a
public offer was launched for the remaining Indian shares that were traded publicly on the Bombay
Stock Exchange and the National Stock Exchange m India On 13 March 2008 the Group acquired an
83 33% shareholding 1n the Indian part of the business

A revaluation of tangible fixed assets by €17 4 million was made to reflect the carrying value of
the assets based on the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use based on discounted
cash flows for the assets

In 1ts last financial year to 31 December 2007, ABS India made a profit after taxation of €6 2
muthon (INR 349 5 million) For the period from 1 January 2008 until the date of acquisition, ABS
India made a profit afier taxation of €0 7 million (INR 43 6 million)

Goodwill on acquisition relates to the expected synergies on acquisition and the strong market
position of the business 1n Asia

2007 acquisttions
Borealis AS

On 31 August, 2007 the Group acquired the Borealis AS petrochemical business 1n Norway,
which included the integrated polyolefins businesses at Bamble, together with & 50% nterest in the
Noretyl ethylene cracker at Rafnes, Norway The total consideration, meluding acquisition expenses
after working capital adjustments, was €237 7 rillion (NOK 1,891 8 nuflion) The business was
acquired debt free with cash balances of €48 6 million (NOK 386 8 million) The purchase has been
accounted for as an acquisition 1 these consohdated financial statements The newly acquired
busmess forms part of the O&P Europe business segment

The total adjustments required to the book values of the assets and liabihities of the business
acquired n order to present the net assets of the business at fair values, together with the resultant
amount to goodwill, are set cut below

Book value Revaluation Fair value

€m €m €m
Intangible fixed assets 0% - 09
Property, plant and equipment 48 6 - 48 6
Investments 559 - 559
Inventory 301 (02) 299
Trade and other recervables 117 1) 116
Cash 486 - 48 6
Trade and other payables {56 1) 27 (58 8)
Pensions {225) 25 200y
Deferred taxation on penstons 43 (45) -
Net assets acquired 1217 (50) 116 7
Goodwill 1210
Consideration (including acquisition expenses) 2377

An independent actuartal valuation of the pension plans was performed as at the date of the
acquisition, which resulted n a decrease i the pension deficit of €2 5 million

In 1ts past financial year to 31 December, 2006, Borealis AS made a profit after taxation of €6 4
mullion (NOK 52 3 million) For the period from 1 January, 2007 until the date of acquisition, Borealis
AS made a profit after taxation of €18 0 nullion (NOK 142 6 million)

Goodwili retates to the expected synergies on acquisition and the forecast potential acquired
business
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4, ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
Lanxess ABS

The Group acquired 100% of the Lanxess ABS plastics business, Lustran Polymers on 2

October 2007

The initial acquisition excludes the Indian part of the business which completed in March 2008
The busmess 1s the world’s third largest and Europe’s leading supplier of ABS plastics and has sites in
Domagen (Germany), Tarragona (Spain), Map Ta Phut (Thailand), Ualodara (India) and Addyston
(USA) The business was renamed Ineos ABS and forms part of the Chemical Intermediates business

segment

The total adjustments required to the book values of the assets and liabilittes of the business in

order to present the net assets of the business at fair values are set out below

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible fixed assets
Customer relationships
Inventory

Trade and other recervables
Cash

Provisions

Trade and other payables
Pensions

Deferred taxation

Net assets
Negative goodwill

Consideration (including acquisition expenses and contingent
consideration)

Fair value Fnal farir
Book value adjustments value
€m
425 @25) -

04 (0 4) -

- 202 202
1392 (1)) 1385
1590 10 1600

210 - 210

- (88 1) (88 1)

96 4) (109} (1073
86) (127) (21 3)

- 109 109

2571 (123 2) 1339
{106 6)
273

The business in Germany was acquired with an onerous raw material supply contract and
provision of €88 1 million was recognised for the expected losses on this contract Following a detailed
review of acquired contracts, a finance lease for storage facilities of €10 4 million was recognised
within trade and other payables The independent actuarial valuation of the pension plan habilities on

acquisition was finalised, which resulted 1n an increase 1n the pension deficit of €12 7 million

Customer relationships were also 1dentified on the acquisition of €20 2 million These relationships are

being amortised over three years

The revaluation of tangible fixed assets by €42 5 milhon represents an adjustment to refiect the
lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use based on discounted cash flows for the

individual asset groupings

At the acquisition date contingent consideration of €43 4 million was included within the
provisional consideration Contingent consideration s linked to the future profitability of the business
and adjustments to the provisional fair value of net assets acquired By 31 December, 2007 contingent

consideration was reassessed as a recervable of €27 9 mullion

In 1ts last financial year to 31 December, 2006, Lanxess ABS made a profit before interest and
taxation of €4 6 mullion For the pertod from 1 January, 2007 untii the date of acquisition Lanxess
ABS made a profit before interest and taxation of €11 5 million A profit after taxation figure 15 not
available as the business acquired was carved out from various divisions, so no allocation or taxation

was made

The significant negative goodwill arising 1n the acquisition was due to the business being 1n a
distressed state at acquisition and requiring significant investment by any purchaser

Acqusition of Nova Joint Venture

On 1 October 2007 the group acquired a 50% nterest in Ineos Nova, a joint venture operated with
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4, ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Nova Chemicals In return for its interest in the joint venture the Group contributed 1ts North
American styrene and polystyrene assets (Styrenics) The Group contnibuted working capital batances
into Ineos Nova of €104 2m which the Group estimates to be the initial fair value of 1ts interest in the
Jomt venture For further details of this transaction please see Note 3 and Note 13

Other acquisitions

On 18 October, 2007 the Group acquired Ineos Chlor Atlanttk GmbH from Inecs Enterprises, a
legally separate group of companies held under common control with Ineos Group Holdings plc Ineos
Chlor Atlantik GmbH operates a chlorine plant in Withelmshaven, Germany On 16 November, 2007
the Group acquired Glebe Mtes Limited Glebe Mines Limited 1s the UK’s only indigenous fluorspar
mining company, based in the Peak District

The total adjustments required to the book values of the assets and habilities of the business
acquired in order to present the net assets of the business at fair values, together with the resultant
amount of goodwill, are set out below

Total
€m
Book value 26
Revaluation/accounting policy alignments 43
Net assets acquired 69
Goodwill 110
Consideration (including acquisition expenses) 179

Updates to prior year acquisitions

The Group recerved an additional €13 Om 1n 2007 1n settlement of working capital balances
relating to the acquisition of Innovene from BP  This 1s recogmsed as a reduction 1n the consideration
paid for [nnovene with a consequent reduction n the goodwill recognised on acquisition

3. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

2009 2008 2007
€m

Exceptional cost of sales - (130 3) (45 %)
Exceptional administrative expenses
Restructuring of Innovene operations (29 9) 204) (43 3)
Restructuring of other acquired businesses (12 0) (26 5) (13 6)
Settlement of legal claim - (33 8) -
Total exceptional administrative expenses {419 (80 7) (569)
Share of exceptional loss of associates and jointly
controlled entities using the equity accounting method - 45 (48 5)
Exceptional finance cost loss on extinguishment of debt {209 2) - -
Total exceptional expenses (251 1) (215 5) (151 3)
Exceptional administrative gain negative goodwill - 290 106 6
Exceptional finance income 890 - -
Total exceptional gains 830 25 0 106 6

Exceptional cost of sales

The charge to cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2008 reflects the non cash write-
down of certain tangible fixed assets The charge reflects the closure of the polypropylene assets 1n
Bamble, Norway (O&P Europe segment) during the year together with the planned closures of the Per
and Trichloroethylene plants 1n Runcorn, England (Chemical Intermediates segment) and the
polypropylene assets in Battleground, Texas (O&P North America segment) 1n early 2009 Costs
incurred on the planned expansions of the polypropylene assets in Geel and Lillo, Belgium (O&P
Europe segment) have also been written off as these projects were suspended An impawrment charge
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5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (Continued)

has also been taken against the HFC 125 assets in Runcern (Chemtcal Intermediates segment) after a
review of the business was carmed out duning the year ended 31 December 2008

The charge to cost of sales for the year ended 31 December 2007 reflects the non cash write-
down of the North American tangible fixed assets at the Texas City and Johet sites after an impairment
review of these businesses was carried out during the year This impairment charge relates entirely to
the O&P North America segment

Exceptional admirustrative expenses

The Innovene business was acquired 1n 2005 and the Group has subsequently undertaken a
restructuring programme which 1s focused on the operations at the mam sites n the business at
Grangemouth, Lavéra, Cologne and Chocolate Bayou In addition two of the production lines at the
Sarralbe site were closed tn 2009 which has result in a corresponding reduction in the workforce there
The restructuring costs of €29 ¢ million (2008 €20 4 million, 2007 €43 3 mullion) largely relate to
severance and early retirement costs

Other restructuring costs of €12 0 milhion charged in 2009 primaniy relate to restructuring and the
provision of severance payments 1n the Compounds and ABS businesses In 2008, other restructuring
costs of €26 5 million were charged m relation to other acquired businesses in 2008 and primarily
relate to severance costs, early retirement costs and contract termination penalties at Bamble, Norway

In the year ended 2008 the Group agreed to an out of court settlement of €33 8 million
(including costs) to settle the case nvolving damages awarded to Dr Mannsfeld in Alabama, USA for
allegedly patenting his 1deas The Group denied the accusation The Group acquired Phenolchemie in
2001 Dr Mannsfeld's claim against the Group was based on the contention that Phenolchemie took his
1dea of using phenol residue as a feedstock for making carbon black in the late nmeties Dr Mannsfeld
was an employee of Degussa at that tume and has never been an employee of either Phenolchemie or
the Group

Restructuring costs during the year ended 31 December 2007 include €9 1 million in respect of
severance costs, contract termination penalties and general site clearance costs for the closure of the
Films manufacturing facility m Monfalcone, Italy

Exceptional loss in associates and jointly controlled entities using the equity accounting method

During the year ended 31 December 2007 the Incos Nova joint venture restructured some of its
operations tn North America during the year The restructuring related to the closure of their facilities
in Montreal, Canada and Belpre, USA In addition the joint venture acquired the exclusive production
rights from Sterling Chemical’s Texas City, USA styrene plant and then nominated zero production
volumes, so that the Sterling plant was then permanently shut down The restructuring charges of €ml
1n 2009 (2008 €4 S mullion, 2007 €48 5 milhion} relate to the Group’s share of the asset write downs
and severance costs mncurred by the jont venture

Exeeptional finance cost. loss on extinguishment of debt

On 17 July 2009 the Group successfuily reached agreement with 1ts senior lenders on a
package of amendments to the Group’s Senior Facilities Agreement The Group has assessed that the
package of amendments to the Senior Facilities Agreement represents a substantial modification and
result in the extinguishment of the existing debt (see Note 20)

As a result, the existing debt has been derecognised and the modified debt recogmsed at fair
value The Group has estimated the fair value of the modified debt by reference to a valuation
technique as the Senior Faciliues Agreement debt 1s not quoted and information about transactions in
the Group’s debt 1s not available The valuation techmque used a discounted cash flow technique using
an estimated yield for simitar debt to determine the fair value of the modified debt The estimated yield
was determined by reference to consensus pricing in respect of the existing Semor Facilittes Agreement
debt as adjusted for market 1lliquidity and other factors distorting prices during July 2009 due to the
impact of the global financial crisis

Accordingly the Group has recognised a charge of €209 2 million as an exceptional finance
expense which includes the write-off of the deferred 15sue costs on the existing Senior Facilities
Agreement debt and the costs associated with the July 2009 modification
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5. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS {(Continued)

Exceptional admunistrative gain

For the acquisitions of Lanxess ABS 1n 2007 and Seal Sands 1in 2008, the fair value of

identifiable assets, labilities and contingent liabilities exceeded the consideration paid giving nise to

negative goodwill recognised directly 1n the consolidated income statement (see Note 4)

Exceptional finance mmcome

In July 2009 the Group finalised the settiement of a legal claim against a third party The
defendant agreed to acquire Sentor Notes 1ssued by the Group and to then transfer them to the Group
by way of settlement The total settlement value was $35 million (€25 1 million) and the Group
received Senior Notes with a book value of €114 1 million The resulting gam of €89 0 million has

been included as exceptional finance income (see Note 20)

6 EXPENSES AND AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Included n (loss)/profit are the following

Exceptional restructuring costs — imcluded in
admimistrative expenses

Research and development expensed as incurred
Amortsation of other intangible assets

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of government grants

Depreciation and impairment of tangible fixed assets
Owned assets

Finance leased assets

Operating lease rental charges:

Plant, machinery and equipment

Other

Auditors’ remuneration:

Audn of these financial statements

Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates

respect of

Audrt of financral statements of subsidiaries pursuant to
legislation

Other services relating to taxation

Services relating to corporate finance transactions

All other services

Amounts paid to the company’s auditors and their associates i respect of services to the

2009 2008 2007
€m
419 469 569
590 666 859
204 215 160
165 212 29
87 49 (30}
5891 7492 886 8
66 63 67
634 461 459
113 83 17 4
2009 2008 2007
€m
07 07 07
28 25 27
20 17 25
33 08 15
06 14 13
94 71 87

company, other than the audit of the company’s financial statements, have not been disclosed as the
information ts required instead to be disclosed on a consolidated basis
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7. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The monthly average number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the
year, analysed by category, was as follows

Number of employees

2009 2008 2007
Operations 8614 11,651 11,221
Admnistration 2,804 2,741 1,859
Research and development 331 579 602
11,949 14,971 13,682
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows
2009 2008 2007
€m
Wages and salaries 6753 7971 9595
Social security costs 123 0 1805 1472
Expenses related to defined contribution pension plans 74 157 129
Expenses related to defined benefit pension plans 1013 613 709
9070 1,054 6 1,190 5
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION
2009 2008 2007
€m
Aggregate emoluments 10 06 06
Company contnibution to money purchase scheme a1 01 01
1.1 07 07

Retirement benefits are accrumng to two directors (2008 two directors, 2007 two directors)
under a money purchase scheme No directors (2008 no directors, 2007 no directors) have retirement
benefits accruing under a defined benefit pension scheme

The total amount of emoluments payable to the highest paid director for the year was €0 5
million (2008 €0 4 mullion, 2007 €0 4 million) Pension contributions of €32,000 (2008 €35,000,
2007 €41,000) were paid mto a personal pension scheme n relatton to the highest paid director
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9. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Recogmsed 1n profit or loss

Finance income

Interest income on bank balances

Other interest receivable

Total interest income on financial assets not at farr value
through profit or loss

Exchange movements

Net fair value gain on derivatives

Expected return on defined benefit pension plan assets
Dividend mcome

Total finance income before exceptional 1tems
Exceptional finance mmcome (see Note 5)

Total finance mcome . ..... . . .

Finance costs

Interest payable on semor notes

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafis
Interest payable on securitisation
Amortisation of 1ssue costs

Interest payable on finance leases

Other finance charges

Exchange movements

Net fair value loss on derivatives

Interest on employee benefit ltabilities
Unwind of discount on provisions

Total finance cost before exceptional items
Exceptional loss on extinguishment of debt (see Note 5)

Total finance costs car s e e e e e e

Net finance costs e e e e e e en

Net gains and losses on financial instruments are included 1n Note 26 b
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2009 2008 2007
€m
16 306 313
117 93 -
133 399 313
160 318 -
- 129 46
585 856 875
73 37 65
951 173 9 1299
890 - -
184 1 173.9 129.9
178 0 1820 1884
474 6 3908 4019
320 531 702
204 286 287
02 02 09
276 326 54
124 1580 791
232 - -
934 96 2 905
20 47 58
8638 946 2 8709
209 2 - -
. 1,073.0 946 2 870.9
8889 7723 741.0




Notes te the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
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10. TAXATION

Taxatron recognised n the consolidated income statement

2009 2008 2007
€m

Current tax expense
Current year 376 743 919
Adjustments 1n respect of prior years (10) (127) (53 4)
Current tax expense 366 616 385
Deferred tax expense
Ongmation and reversal of temporary differences 11 (294 2) 46 5
Ad)justments 1n respect of prior years (33 8) (7190) 362
Deferred tax (credit)/charge 22 7) (373 2) 827
Total tax charge/(credit) 139 (311.6) 121.2
Reconcihation of effective tax rate

2009 2008 2007

€m
(Loss)/profit before taxation (601 2) (884 2) 5237
Tax on above using the UK corporation tax rate of 28%
(2008 28%, 2007 30%) (168 4) (247 6) 1571
Non-deductible expenses/tax exempt revenues 879 (4 3) 37
Dnsposal of businesses 82 97 -
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 297 98 77
Deferred tax not recognised 617 421 (205)
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward 296 (29 6) (32)
Adjustments for prior years (34 8) (91 7) (16 2)
Total tax chargef(credit) 139 (311 6) 121.2
Taxation recognised 1n other comprehensive income
2009 2008 2007
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m

Foreign exchange
translation differences 568 - 568 (184 1) - (184 1y (4723) - (4723}
Foreign exchange
differences recycled on .
disposal of subsidiaries (250) - (250} 135 - 135 28 - 28
Changes in the fair value of
assets classified as available
for sale 229 - 229 - - - - - -
Net gamn/(loss) on hedge of
net mvestment n foreign
operations 139 - 139 (40 0) - 400) 2405 - 240 5
Net change in fair value of
cash flow hedges - - - 1058 {29 5} 763 - - -
Cash flow hedge recycled
from hedging reserve (105 9) 296 {76 3) - - - - - -
Actuanal gains and losses
on defined benefit pension
schemes (189 i68 21 (3212 797 {2415 503 (40 9) 94
Total {56.2) 46.4 (9.8) (426.0) 502 (3758 (1787) (40.9) (219.6)
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
Land and  equipment Fixtures Under
buildings and fittings construction Total
€m
Cost
Balance at 1 January 2007 4677 72849 476 5 8,229 1
Acquisitions through business combinations 147 360 68 575
Additions 09 2526 3869 640 4
Disposals (52 6) {46 3) 26) (101 5)
Transfers 550 460 6 (515 6) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange %N (409 9) 37 (423 3y
Balance at 31 December 2007 476 0 75779 3483 8,402 2
Acquisitions through business combinations 66 720 02 78 8
Additions 62 2387 3565 6014
Disposals (48 0} (223 5} (24 4) (295 9)
Transfers 99 2229 (232 8) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (34) (548 2) 24 8 (526 8)
Balance at 31 December 2003 4473 73398 472 6 8,259 7
Additions 04 103 9 1593 2636
Disposals (22 3) (148 8) (23 0) (194 1)
Transfers 64 254 1 273 1) (12 6)
Reclassifications - - (17 (17
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 06 153 0 58 1394
Balance at 31 December 2009.. . - 4324 7,702.0 3399 84743
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2007 102 ¢ 1,515 5 - 1,6175
Depreciation charge for the year 283 8i93 - 8476
Impairment losses - 459 - 459
Transfers 357 (357 - -
Disposals (52 6) 30 - (55 6)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange - (126 4) - (126 4)
Balance at 31 December 2007 1134 2,2156 - 23290
Depreciation charge for the year 214 603 8 - 6252
Impairment losses - 1303 - 1303
Disposals (10 5) (160 5) - (171 0)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 13 (93 1) - (94 4)
Balance at 31 December 2008 1230 2.696 1 - 28191
Depreciation charge for the year 211 5746 - 5957
Transfers 07 (133) - (12 6}
Disposals 23) 337 - (56 0}
Effect of movements i foreign exchange (06) 355 - 349
Balance at 31 December 2009 . ..... ... 141.9 3,2392 - 3,381.1
Net book value
At 1 January 2007 3657 5,769 4 476 5 6,611 6
At 31 December 2007 362 6 5,362 3 348 3 6,073 2
At 31 December 2008 3243 46437 472 6 5,440 6
At 31 December 2009.... .. .. ... . 2905 4,462 8 3399 5,093 2
Impairment losses

The impairment losses for the year ended 31 December 2008 of €130 3 million reflect the
closure of polypropylene assets in Bamble, Norway during the year and the closures of the Per and

Trichloroethylene plants in Runcorn, England and the polypropylene assets 1n Battleground, Texas in
early 2009 Costs incurred to date on the planned expansions of the polypropylene assets in Geel and

Lillo, Belgium were also written off as these projects were suspended An impairment charge was also
taken against the HFC 125 assets in Runcorn after a review of the business was carried out during

2008
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11.  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The impairment loss for the year ended 31 December 2007 of €45 9 mllion 15 1 relation to
tangible fixed assets at the Texas City and Jolet sites in the USA

These impairment losses were recognised mn cost of sales as exceptional charges The items of
property, plant and equipment were subsequently written off

Leased plant and machinery

Included in the above are assets held under hire purchase and finance leases with a net book
value of €43 6 million (2008 €50 0 million, 2007 €56 2 million} The leased equipment secured lease
obhgations (see Note 20)

Property, plant and equipment under construction

During 2009, construction work at Koln on the overhaul of the two catalytic cracking units was
commpleted and the assets were transferred to other classes of property, plant and equipment
Construction work continued at the KG cracker umt in Grangemouth whilst work on the polypropylene
plant in Belgium was halted until a deciston to complete the project has been taken

Additions to property, plant and equipment that were treated as assets under construction during
2008 arose from a number of investments The material ones included the new furnace constructed for
the cracker at the Koln site, the expansion of a polypropylene plant in Belgium, the expansion of
feedstock capabilities of the KG cracker unit in Grangemouth, Scotland, and overhaul of the two
Fluidised Catalytic Cracking units, Crude distillation unit Ne 2, Hydrocracker Treatments

Additions to assets under constructions included mvestment to meet future regulations with the
first phase of construction of a new Sulfur Recovery Umit coupled with a Tail Gas Treatment and a new
Waste Water Treatment Plant Other notable investments include the electrical and hydrocracker
substations, new tankage, tank farm fire protection, cross- country pipeline integnty gauging and
expansion projects mcluding acid crude processing
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intellectual Customer
property rights  relationships Other Goodwall Total
€m

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2007 1392 29 98 865 1 1.017 0
Acquisitions through busimess
combinations 03 202 - 1190 1395
Other acquisitions 03 - 04 - 07
Disposals (0 6) - (16) - 22)
Effect of movements 1n foreign exchange (50) - 03) (74 5) (79 8)
Balance at 31 December 2007 1342 231 83 909 6 1,0752
Acquisitions through business
combinations - - - 191 191
Other acquisitions 273 - 07 - 280
Disposals - - - (26) (26)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 19 - 01 199 219
Balance at 31 December 2008 163 4 231 g1 946 0 1.1416
Additions - - - 10 10
Other addinons - - 10 - 10
Reclassifications 17 - - - 17
Disposals (25 8) (202) (0 3) (80 6) (1269)
Effect of movements 1n foreign exchange (0 6) - 60 67
Balance at 31 December 2009 . .. ... 1387 2.9 9.8 860 3 1,011 7
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
Balance at | January 2007 81 23 57 47 8 639
Amortisation for the year 125 17 18 - 160
Disposals 06) - (16) - 22)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (08) - (0 2) 28) (38
Balance at 31 December 2007 192 40 57 450 739
Amortisation for the year 14 1 67 07 - 215
Effect of movements 1n foreign exchange 02 - - {0 6) 04
Balance at 31 December 2008 335 107 64 44 4 950
Amortisation for the year 145 52 07 - 204
Disposal 33 (13 5) (03) (349) (520)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (03) - - (10) (13)
Balance at 31 December 2009 .. . . 444 24 68 85 621
Net book value
At 1 January 2007 1311 06 41 8173 9531
At 31 December 2007 1150 191 26 864 6 1,001 3
At 31 December 2008 129 & 12 4 27 901 6 1,046 6
At 31 December 2009 .. . . 94.3 05 3o 8518 949 6

Other intangible assets include non-compete agreements and licence fees

Amoertisation and impairment charge

‘The amortisation charge 1s recognised in administrative expenses in the conselidated income
statement
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12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Impairment

Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (CGU) or groups of cash generating units
as follows

2009 2008 2007

€m
O&P Europe 2431 2450 2375
Q&P North Amenica 244 8 2455 2411
Refining 30086 3001 296 7
Chemaical Intermediates 633 1110 8§93
TOMD voircreee ce e ee ee e e e meemee e 8518 , 901 6 864 6

The recoverable amount 1s based on the value in use of each segment based on the latest board
approved five year plan The forecasts are based on current performance and management's
assumptions regarding the future development of individual parameters including raw material prices
and profit margins, utihsing available market pricing forecasts Future assumptions regarding market
demand are based on external macroeconomic sources and specific data relevant to the petrochemical
industry and management's knowledge of the local markets in which 1t operates

The cash flows after the plan period are based on an average of each of the years in the five year
plan to take account of the cyclical nature of the industry extrapolated using long term growth rates as
set out 1n the table below

No impairment charge has been recorded 1n these accounts as a result of the annual impairment
test Trading performance in 2009 was in line with plan despite the market turbulence at the end of
2008 which had a sigmficant effect in 2009 The market has recovered steadily throughout 2009 and
this ts forecast to continue over the plan period

The key assumptions underlying the value 1n use calculation are shown below

2009 2008 2007
Period on which management approved forecasts arc
based 5 years 5 years 5 years
Discount rate 11 0% 10 5% 10 0%
Growth rate 3 0% 3 0% 3 0%

A terminal value 1s calculated based on the average cash flows over the five year forecasting
pertod assuming compound growth of 3% and 1s discounted over the expected lives of the assets

The discount rate is based upon the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital of the group as at
each respective period end

The growth rate used includes mflationary growth across our various markets

Sensitivity of recoverable amounts

The following table presents, for each CGU or group of CGUs, the change n the discount rate
for the tests as of 31 December 2009 that would be required in order for the recoverable amount to
equal carrying value

Change in discount rate in order

Apphed for the recoverable amount to be Required
rate equal to carrying value rate
%
Q&P Europe 110 46 156
O&P North America 110 115 225
Refining 110 125 235
Chemical Intermediates 110 18 4 294
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12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

The following table presents, for each CGU or group of CGUs, the change in the growth rate for
the tests as of 31 December 2009 that would be required 1 order for the recoverable amount to equal |
carrying value For all segments except Chemical Intermediates there would need to be negative !
growth m order for an iImpairment to be recogmsed For the Chemical Intermechates segment growth !
sensitivity is not relevant as a €ml terminal value would not result in impairment ‘

Change in growth rate in order

Applied for the recoverable amount to be Required
rate equal to carrying value rate
%
O&P Europe 30 (10 1) (71
O&P North America 30 (374) (34 4)
Refining 30 467) 437
Chemical Intermediates 30 n/a nfa
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13. INVESTMENTS

13.a Investments In Equity—Accounted Investees

Joint Associated
ventures  undertakings Total
€m

At | January 2007 810 07 817
Transfer from provisions for habilities 24 1) - 24 1)
Share of losses retamed 429 - 429
Acquired on disposal of Styremics (Note 3) 1042 - 104 2
Acquisitions 559 - 559
Disposals 76 - (7 6)
Exchange adjustments an - N
At 31 December 2007 158 8 07 159 5
Transfer to provisions for Labilities 323 - 323
Share of losses retained 609) - 609
Addiuons 39 - 39
Share capital repayment 67 - 67
Loan repayment 64 - (6 4)
Reclassifications 27 - 27
Dmvidends received (o - (1)
Disposals - (0 5) 0 5)
Exchange adjustments (72) (02) (74)
At 31 December 2008 1155 - 1155
Share of profits retamed 50 - 50
Additions 14 01 15
Loan repayment (66) - (66)
Reclassifications (103) - (10 3)
Dividends received (ayn - (11)
Disposals (16) - (16)
Exchange adjustments 72 - 72
At 31 December 2009..... . ... . .. e e e e 109 5 0.1 109.6

Joint ventures

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group contributed 1ts North American styrene
and polystyrene assets nto a new jomt venture, Ineos Nova LLC This created a new enlarged Ineos
Nova jomt venture covering both Europe and North America This enlarged joint venture resulted 1n
the Group’s prior share of the net habilities of the existing Ineos Nova European joint venture of €24 1
mullion bemg transferred from provisions for liabilities to investments 1n 2007 The Group recognised
the nterest in the joint venture mitially at farr value which it determined to be equal to the carrying
value of the assets contributed into the joint venture

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group’s share of the losses retained on the
enlarged Styrenics joint venture resulted n a transfer to provisions as the Group had an obligation to
fund future losses of the venture

In 2009 the Group disposed of its mnterests in the Nova jomnt ventures for mil consideration, see
Note 3

The Group has a loan investment with Noretyl AS At 31 December 2009 the balance was €19 9
milhion (2008 €21 7 million, 2007 €32 1 million)
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13. INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Details of mvestments in joint ventures are set out below

Place of business

Class of shares and country of Percentage Prineipal

Company held incorporation held activities
Appryl SNC Ordinary Lavéra, France 50% Chemicals
Naphthachimme SNC Ordinary Lavera, France 50% Chemicals
Oxochimie SA Ordinary Lavéra, France 50% Chemicals
Ineos Nova European Holding Class A Breda,
BV {disposed of 1n 2009) Ordinary Netherlands 50% Chemicals
Ineos Nova International SA Class A Fribourg,
{disposed of 1n 2009) Ordinary Switzerland 50% Chemicals
Ineos Nova LLC (disposed of in
2009) Common lilinois, USA 50% Chemicals

Pipeline/

Southern Ridge Pipeline GP LLC Partnership [lno1s, USA 50% Transportation
Jiangx1 In-Tech Chemucal
Company Limited Ordinary Jiangx1, China 50% Chemicals
Noretyl AS Ordinary Rafnes Norway 50% Chemicals

Summary aggregated financial information for equity accounted joint ventures — 50 per cent of the
balances

2009 2008 2007
€m

Current assets 641 2854 5938
Long-term assets 168 3 299 5 3129
Current ltabilities (48 4) (259 5) (226 6)
Long-term habilities (55 4) (65 0) (887
Income 844 4 1,5517 1,1015
Expenses (8316) {1,600 8) (983 2)

Associated undertakings

Duning the year ended 31 December 2009 the Group retaned interests in associated
undertakmgs on disposal of the Bio and Healthcare businesses (see Note 3) and as a result of the Group
entering mto an agreement to construct a waste energy plant in Runcorn

Details of the associated undertakings are set out below

Place of business

Class of shares and country of Percentage Principal
Company held mcorporation held activities
Ineos Bro Limited Ordinary UK 20% Chemicals
Ineos Bie US LLC Ordmary USA 20% Chemicals
Incos Healthcare Limited Ordinary UK 20% Healthcare

Ordinary

Class ‘A and Waste

Ineos Runcorn (TPS} Limited Class ‘B UK 25% processing

The Group has not recognised 1its share of losses relating to the Ineos Bio or Healthcare
businesses of €0 8 million and €2 4 mullion respectively since the Group has no obligation 1n respect of
these losses additional to that already provided for on disposal (see Note 3) The Group has adopted
1AS 27 (revised 2008) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and has recognised these
investments at their fair value on the date of reorganisation of these businesses, estimated by the Group
to be €ml
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13 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Summary aggregated financial information for equity accounted associated undertakings — share
of the balances

2009

€m
Total assets 237
Total liabihities (268)
Income -
Expenses —02

13 b Investments 1in Subsidiary Undertakings

The directors consider that to give full particulars of all subsidiary undertakings would lead to a
statement of excessive length

The following informatton relates to the principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company The
full list of subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2009 will be annexed to the Company s annual
return
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13 INVESTMENTS (Continued)

Company

Ineos Holdings Limited*

Ineos US Finance LLC

Incos Industrial Investment Limited
Ineos Oxide Limited

Ineos NV

Ineos Belgium NV

Ineos Italia Sl

Ineos Phenol GmbH

Ineos Fluor Limited

Ineos Fluor Japan Limited

IF) Korea Limited

Ineos Fluor Canada Inc

Ineos Fluor Amencas L1.C

Ineos Silicas Limrted

Ineos Silicas Netherlands BV
Ineos Americas LLC

Ineos Manufacturing Deutschland GmbH
Ineos Koln GmbH

Ineos France SAS

Ineos Europe Limited

Ineos Manufacturing Belgium NV
Ineos Feluy SPRL

Ineos Manufacturing Scotland Limited
Ineos Sales Belgium NV

Ineos Sales Itahasrl

Ineos Manufacturing France SAS
Incos Manufacturing Italilaspa
Ineos USA LLC

Ineos Polymers Inc

Ineos Canada Company

Ineos Canada Partnership

Ineos Chior Liumited

Ineos Chilor Atlantik GmbH

Incos Vinyls Finance Ple

Ineos Vinyls UK Limited

Ineos Vinyls Belgium NV

Ineos Vinyls Deutschland GmbH
Ineos Vinyls Sales GmbH

Ineos Compounds UK Limited
Ineos Compounds Switzerland AG
Ineos Filmsspa

Ineos Films Inc

Ineos Fums GmbH

Ineos Films Staufen GmbH
Caprihans India Limited

Ineos Bamble AS

Ineos Nitriles (UK) Limited

Ineos Manufacturing (Hull) Limited
Ineos Fuels Limited

Ineos Refining France SAS

Ineos Technologies (Vinyls) Limited

* Held directly by the Company
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Country of
incorporation and Percentage Principal
operation holding activity
Holding
England 100% Company
us 100% Finance
England 100% Finance
England 100% Chemicals
Belgium 100% Chemicals
Belgium 100% Chemicals
Italy 100% Chemicals
Germany 100% Chemucals
England 100% Chemicals
Japan 100% Chemtcals
Korea 100% Chemuicals
Canada 100% Chemuicals
Us 100% Chemicals
England 100% Chernucals
The Netherlands 100% Chemicals
Us 100% Chemucals
Germany 100% Chemicals
Germany 100% Chemucals
France 100% Chemicals
England 100% Chenucals
Belgium 100% Chermucals
Belgium 100% Chemucals
Scotland 100% Chemicals
Belgium 100% Chemicals
Italy 100% Chemicals
France 100% Chemicals
Italy 100% Chemucals
Us 100% Chemicals
us 100% Chemicals
Canada 100% Chemicals
Canada 100% Chemucals
England 100% Chemicals
Germany 100% Chemicals
England 100% Finance
England 100% Chemicals
Belgium 100% Chemuicals
Germany 100% Chemicals
Germany 100% Chemucals
England 100% Chemicals
Switzerland 100% Chemicals
Italy 100% Chemicals
us 100% Chemuicals
Germany 100% Chemicals
Germany 100% Chemicals
India 59% Chemaicals
Norway 100% Chemicals
England 100% Chemicals
England 100% Chemicals
England 106% Chemicals
France 100% Chemicals
England 100% Chemicals
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14 OTHER INVESTMENTS

2009 2008 2007
€m
At 1 January 1235 - -
Additions - 1055 -
Interest recervable 65 46 -
Exchange adjustments 3 i34 -
At 31 December 129 7 123.5 -

During the year ended 31 December 2008 the Group acquired a preferred partnership interest i
Ineos Investments LLP (see Note 3), an entity held under common control by the Group’s ultimate
shareholders, which owns 40% of the share capital of the PQ Corporation, a silicas business
incorporated in the USA  Ineos Investments LLP 1s a limited hiability partnership

15, OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2009 2008 2007
€m
Non-current
Financial assets designated as fair value through profit or
loss (see Note 26 a) - - 56
Available for sale financial assets (see below and Note
26 a} 822 49 0 477
822 49 0 533
Current
Frnancial assets designated as fair value through profit or
loss - 03 -
Denvative commodity contracts designated as fair value
through prefit or loss (see Note 26 a) 29 254 19
Denvative commodity contracts designated as cash flow
hedges (see Note 26 ¢€) - 105 8 -
Other receivables - 279 279
29 159 4 29 8

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets relate to a 19 9% mvestment in Geosel Manosque and a
13 9% mvestment 1n Geosud, compantes registered in France whose principal activities are the
provision of underground storage facilities for liquid hydrocarbons in Southern France, a 16 7%
investment m Aethylen Rohrleitungs Gesellschaft (‘ARG’) mbH and Co KG, a company registered in
Germany whose principal activity 1s the transportation of ethylene via pipehines in Northern Europe,
and a 10% mvestment in Seminole Pipeline Company, a company registered in the USA whose
principal activity 1s the provision of pipelines

The investment 1n Geosel Manosque was valued at 1ts aggregate acquisition cost of €23 0
million in 2007 and 2008 As a result of a partial demerger of the business mto Geosel Manosque and
Geosud 11 2009 further information became available that allowed the valuanon of these nvestments 1n
2009 to an estimated fair value for Geosel Manosque (€26 0 million) and Geosud (€19 9 million)

Investments in ARG mbH and Co KG and Seminole Pipeline Company have been classified as
available for sale financial assets but are recorded at their acquisition cost These financial instruments
comprise shares in private limited companies and partnerships  The carrying amount of these
investrnents was €36 0 millhon at 31 December 2009 (2008 €26 0 million, 2007 €24 7 million) These
shares are not histed and there 15 no active market A reliable determination of fair value would only be
practicable 1f there were equity sales transactions on which farr values could be based A disposal of
these mvestments 1s not currently anticipated
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16. OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

2009 2008 2007
€m
Current
Financial hiabilities designated as farr value through profit
or loss - 02 -
Derrvative commodity contracts designated as fair value
through profit or loss {see Note 26 a) 65 03 06
65 05 06

17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Recognised deferred tax assets and liabiities

Deferred tax assets and labilities are attributable to the following

2009
Assets Liabhties Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment - 1867 1897
Employee benefits {239 3) - (239 3)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards (216 4) - (216 4)
Other (318) - (318)
Tax (assetsyhabilities {437 5) 1897 (297 8)
Set off of tax 286 (28 6) -
Net tax {(assets)/habilities {458 9) 1611 (297 8)
2008
Assets Liabilities Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment - 269 1 2691
Employee benefits (223 8) - (223 8)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards (250 1) - (290 1)
Other - 21 21
Tax (assets)/habtlities (513 9) 2712 (2427)
Set off of tax 76 1 (76 1) -
Net tax (assets)/habiiities (4378) 1951 (242 7)
2007
Assets Liabilities Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment - 403 9 403 9
Employee benefits (147 9) - (1479
Tax value of loss carry-forwards (45 6) - (45 6)
Other {404) - (404)
Tax (assets)/liabilities 2339) 4039 170 0
Set off of tax 1073 (107 3) -
Net tax (assets)/liabilities (126 6) 296 6 1700
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (Continued)

Movement 1in deferred tax

Property, Tax value of loss

plant and Employee carry- forward

equipment benefits utilised Other Total

€m

At 1 January 2007 3970 (183 8) (165 4) 39 567
Recogmsed 1n profit or loss 172 (50) 1198 (49 3) 827
Recognised 1n other comprehensive
mcome - 409 - - 409
Acquired 1n business combinations (10 3) - - - (10 3)
At 31 December 2007 403 9 (147 9) (45 6) (40 4) 1700
Recognised 1n profit or loss (145 5) 38 (244 5) 130 (373 2)
Recognised 1n other comprehensive
mncome - (797) - 295 {50 2)
Acquired 1n business combinations 107 - - - 107
At 31 December 2008 2691 (223 8) (290 1) 21 2427
Recogmised 1n profit or loss (84 8) (73) 737 (43) 227
Recognised n other comprehensive
mcome - (16 8) - 296) (46 4)
Included 1n businesses disposed of 54 86 - - 140
At 31 December 2009 1897 (239 3) (216 4) {31 8) (297 8)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that the reahisation of the related tax benefit
through future taxable profits 1s probable The Group did not recognise gross deductible temporary
differences of €1,039 2 nullion (2008 €483 3 million, 2007 €492 7 million) These relate to
depreciation 1n excess of capital allowances of €217 9 million (2008 €162 3 mullion, 2007 €209 3
milhion), tax losses amounting to €707 4 mullion (2008 €321 0 million, 2007 €283 3 million) and other
temporary differences amounting to €113 9 mutlion (2008 €ml, 2007 €nil}) that can be carried forward
indefimtely agamst future taxable income

The Group has not provided deferred tax m relation to temporary differences on its overseas
subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates as the Group can control the timing and realisation of these
temporary differences, and 1t 1s probable that no material unprovided tax liability would anise

18 INVENTORIES

2009 2008 2007

€m
Raw materials and consumables 4187 4210 1,071 7
Work 1n progress 366 397 628
Fiushed goods 1,089 4 1,132 9 1,473 8
15447 1,593 6 2,608 3

Raw matenals, consumables and changes 1n finished goods and work 1n progress recognised as
cost of sales mn the year amounted to €11,174 4 mullion (2008 €18,100 4 million, 2007 €17,454 5
million) The net write-down of inventories to net realisable value amounted to €46 8 million (2008
€140 7 million, 2007 €15 3 mullion) after the reversal of previous write downs of €22 & million (2008
€25 5 million, 2007 €14 4 mihion)
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2009 2008 2007
€m
Current
Trade receivables 1,5363 1,574 1 2,888 1
Amounts due from related parties 1159 100 4 514
Other receivables 1794 2450 2887
Prepayments 864 724 851
19180 1,991 9 3,313 3
Non-current
Amounts due from related parties 1382 1382 1382
Other recetvables 153 59 17
Prepayments 154 241 206
168 9 168 2 160 5

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period was

Amounts due frem

Trade receivables related parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2009 2009 2009 2009 2009 2009
€m
Not past due 1,453 0 (23 1) 254 1 - 1909 -
Past due 0-30 days 1019 (19) - - - -
Past due 31-90 days 78 (14) - - - -
More than 90 days 229 (229) - - 38 -
1,585 6 {49 3) 254 1 - 194 7 -
Amounts due from
Trade receivables related parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2008 2008 2008 2008 2008 2008
€m
Not past due 1,4359 (153) 2386 - 2495 -
Past due 0-30 days 138 2 (34) - - 05 -
Past due 31-90 days 16 7 (58) - - 08 -
More than 90 days 323 (24 5) - - 01 -
1,623 1 {49 0) 238 6 - 2509 -
Amounts due from
Trade receivables related parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007
€m
Not past due 23308 (212) 189 6 - 2862 -
Past due 0-30 days 1376 08 - - 29 -
Past due 31-90 days 167 235 - - 07 -
More than 90 days 446 7 {192) - - 06 -
29318 (43 7) 189 6 - 290 4 -

The accounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting period
are deemed to be collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular
analyses of the credit worthiness of our customers and external credit checks where appropnate for new
customers (see Note 26 ¢) At 31 December 2007, 2008 and 2009 there were no significant trade,
related party or other recervable balances not past due that were subsequently impaired
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Due to the global activities and diversified customer structure of the Group, there 1s no
stgnificant concentration of credit sk other than with BP Plc (‘BP’) which represents approximately
14% of trade receivables The concentration of credit risk arises due to the number of commercial
agreements that the Group has with BP  The credit rnisk associated with these receivables 1s managed
through a master bilateral netting agreement where, 1n the event of termination of commercial
agreements, balances owed from BP will be offset against the Group’s balances payable to BP  During
the normal course of business amounts owed by BP are normaily less than the Group’s payable to BP
mn relation to purchases of crude o1, feed stocks and other inputs

During 2007, 2008 and 2009 there were no significant trade, related party or other receivable
balances that were subject to renegotiation of terms Credrt enhancements are held 1n respect of trade
and other receivables 1n the form of €295 7 mullion (2008 €255 5 million, 2007 €464 9 million) of
assets pledged as secunity against amounts owed to the Group of which €12 0 mullion (2008 €33 8
milhion, 2007 €31 2 milhion) 15 1n respect of amounts falling overdue

Trade receivable balances totalling €1,096 7 million (2008 €1,118 5 million, 2007 €1,858 6
million) have been pledged as security against amounts drawn down under the Receivables
Secuntisation Facihity, described in Note 20, totalling €605 5 million (2008 €750 6 mullion, 2007
€1,089 7 muillion} In accordance with IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement’
the trade receivable balances pledged as security do not qualify for derecognition and are mcluded
within the trade receivable balances above

The movement in the allowance for impairment 1n respect of trade receivables during the year
was as follows

2009 2008 2007

€m
Balance at 1 January 490 437 371
Impairment loss recognised 03 53 66
Balance at 31 December 493 49 § 43.7

The allowance account for trade receivables 1s used to record impairment losses unless the
Group 1s satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible, at that point the amounts
considered irrecoverable are wnitten off against the trade recervables directly

During the year the Group has not expertenced a significant detertoration in the quality of
recetvable balances due to the current economic conditions The sigmficant falls m the price of crude
o1l and related products during 2008 increased the reported level of the allowance for impaument to the
total recervable balance 1n that year due to a consequential deterioration in the creditworthiness of
certain customers

There were no allowances made agamst amounts due from related parties or other recervables
during the years ended 31 December 2009, 2008 and 2007
20. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearmg loans
and borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost For more information about the Group’s
exposure to interest rate and foreign currency nsk, see Note 26

2009 2008 2007
€m

Non-current ltabihities
Senior Facilities Agreement 4,165 8 43173 4,702 0
Semor Notes 1,965 9 2,088 8 20626
Ineos Vinyls Sentor Notes 1599 160 4 1604
Secunitisation Facility 603 4 748 4 1,084 6
QOther bank loans - 03 11
Finance |lease hiabihtigs 101 177 226
Other loans 09 09 07
6,910 0 7,333 8§ 8.0340
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20, INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

Current habihities

Current portion of borrowings under Senior Faciliies
Agreement

Current portion of other bank loans
Current portion of finance lease habilities

Gross debt and 1ssue costs

Semior Facilities Agreement
Senior Notes

Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes
Securitisation Facility
Other

Total e e e e e e e e e

Senior Facilities Agreement
Sentor Notes

Ineos Vinyls Sentor Notes
Securimsation Facility
Other

Total . ... P e e

Semor Facilities Agreement
Senior Notes

Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes
Securitisation Faciity
Other

Total . .. . .o cese & e seessenseses
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8379 6120 194 §
- 04 04
14 32 135
8393 6156 196.7
Gross loans Net loans
and and
borrowings  Issue costs  borrowings
2009 2009 2009
€m
5,003 7 - 5,003 7
2,0059 360y 19699
1612 (13) 1599
605 6 (22) 603 4
124 - 124
................. 7,788 8 (39.5) 7,749.3
Gross loans Net loans
and and
borrowings  Issue costs  borrowings
2008 2008 2008
€m
5,079 8 (150 5) 4,929 3
2.125¢ (36 2) 2,088 8
1617 (13 1604
7506 22) 748 4
225 - 225
reversrerenes + . 8:139.6 (190 2) 7,949.4
Gross loans Net loans
and and
borrowings _Issue costs _borrowings
2007 2007 2007
€m
50202 (123 4) 48968
2,110 6 (48 0) 2,062 6
162 4 (20} 1604
1,089 7 G 1) 1,084 6
263 - 263
. 8,409.2 (178 5) 8,230.7
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20. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

Terms and debt repayment schedule

Year of
Currency Nominal interest rate maturity
LIBOR / EURIBOR plus 6 0%-
Sentor Facilities Agreement $/€ 8 0% 2012-2015
Sentor Notes $/€ 7 9%-8 5% 2016
Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes € 91% 2011
Securitisation Facility $/€/8 Vanable 2011
Other €A 70-90% 2009-2016

Senior Facilities Agreement

The Group has cutstanding borrowings under a facilities agreement (the “Senior Facilities
Agreement’™”) which consists of Term Loans (“Term Loan A”, “Term Loan B”, “Term Loan C” and
“Term Loan D), and a revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”) The Term Loans
outstanding at 31 December 2009 before 1ssues costs were €4,425 § million (2008 €4,669 8 million,
2007 €5,020 2 mtllion), of which €260 0 mallion (2008 €231 9 million, 2007 €224 7 million} 1s due
within one year The total amounts outstanding on Term Loan A were €727 2 million (2008
€929 0 milhon, 2007 €1,151 8 miliion), Term Loan B were €1,524 3 mutlion (2008 €1,545 4 mullion,
2007 €1,609 2 million), Term Loan C were €1,524 3 million (2008 €1,545 4 million, 2007
€1,609 2 millon), Term Loan D were €650 0 million (2008 €650 0 million, 2007 €650 0 million)
The Revolving Credit Facility outstanding at 31 December 2009 before 1ssues costs was €577 9 milhion
{2008 €410 0 milhon, 2007 €ml)

As a result of the substantial modification of the existing Senior Facilities Agreement Debt on
17 July 2009 (see below and Note 5), the unamortised 1ssue costs at thus date were written off

Term Loan A 1s repayable in 14 semi-annual mstalments beginning on 31 December 2006
ranging from 6 0% to 10 0% of the principal amount of the loan up unt1] the final repayment on 16
December 2012 Term Loan B 1s repayable 1n 9 instalments beginnung on 31 December 2006 ranging
from 1 0% to 46 5% of the principal amount of the loan up until the final repayment on 16 December
2013 Term Loan C 1s repayable m 10 instalments beginning on 31 December 2006 ranging from 1 0%
to 46 5% of the principal amount of the loan up until the final repayment on 16 December 2014 Term
Loan D 15 repayable in full on 16 December 2015

On 19 December 2008, the Group obtained a waiver from its senior banking syndicate of 1ts
Debt Service Cover and Interest Cover tests, together with an amendment to 1ts Leverage test for the
period ending 31 December 2008 The amended leverage test was subsequently met The Group also
obtamned an agreement to defer the testing of the Interest Cover and Leverage tests for the period
ending 31 March 2009 until 31 May 2009

On 17 July 2009 the Group successfully reached agreement with its senior lenders on a package
of amendments to the Group’s financing arrangements, including a reset of the Group's financial
covenants The remuneration for the senior lenders consisted of a consent fee of €79 0 million The
Group has assessed that the package of amendments to the Sentor Facilities Agreement represents a
substantial modification and results m the extinguishment of the existing debt As a result, the existing
debt has been derecognised and the medified debt recognised at fair value The Group has estimated
the fair value of the mod:ified debt by reference to a valuation technique as the Senior Facilities
Agreement debt 1s not quoted and information about transactions in the Group’s debt 15 not available
The valuation techmque used a discounted cash flow model using an estimated yield for similar debt to
determine the fair value of the modified debt The estimated yield was determined by reference to
consensus pricing in respect of the existing Sentor Facilities Agreement debt as adjusted for market
1lhquudity and other factors distorting prices during July 2009 due to the impact of the global financial
CTISIS
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20 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

The leverage, mterest cover and debt service cover covenants have now been reset for the
remaming term of the Senior Facilities Agreement In addition, a new semor leverage covenant and a
mmimum available lhiquidity covenant have been introduced There have also been a number of
amendments to the definitions used for the financial covenants Net debt denominated 1n currencies
other than the euro will be translated at the average rate for the period rather than the penod end rate to
match the rates used to translate the operating results for the same period The operating results of the
Group will now be measured on the basis of replacement cost EBITDA for Refining and historical cost
EBITDA for the rest of the Group, rather than just historical cost EBITDA This change will remove
most of the current volatility 1n our operating results caused by unpredictable fluctuations in crude ol
prices

The Term Loans and Revolving Credit Facility bear mterest at a rate equal to a margin plus
either EURIBOR or LIBCR The applicable per annum cash margins as at December 31, 2009 are
, 4 00% per annum for the Term Loan A facility, 4 50% per annum for the Term Loan B facility, 5 00%
per annum for the Term Loan C facility, 6 00% per annum for Revolving Credit Facility, and 6 00%
per annum for the Term D Loan Facility With effect from July 17, 2009 the Term Loans are also
subject to a Payment mn Kind (*PIK’) margin of 2 00% per annum

The cash margins on Term Loans A and B are subject to a reduction based on certam financial
tests The PIK margin 1s subject to a reduction based upon achieving certain reductions 1n total
leverage, together with achieving certamn credit ratings with Moody’s and Standard and Poor

A US dollar LIBOR floor of 3 00% applies to all US dollar denominated Term Loans and 1s
payable in cash A EURIBOR fioor of 3 25% applies to all Euro denominated Term Loans The
difference between actual EURIBOR at the start of each mterest period and the floor will be accrued
over the pertod and 15 not payable 1n cash until the final repayment dates of the applicable loans If
available hquidity (cash and amounts available under the Revolving Credit Facility) of the Group
exceeds €750 million the EURIBOR floor reduces to 3 00% and will become payable 1n cash

Ineos Group Heldings plc and substantially all of 1ts material subsidiaries are guarantors of the
Semor Facihties Agreement Thewr obligations are secured by fixed and floating charges over all of the
assets of Ineos Holdings Limited and substantially all of the assets of those matenal subsidiaries

The Semior Facilities Agreement contains numerous customary operating and financial
covenants including requirements to maintain mmimum coverage of mterest expense, minmum
coverage of total debt service and a maximum leverage ratio In addition, the Senior Facilities
Agreement includes covenants relating to, among other things, limitations on indebtedness, ability to
give guarantees, creation of security interests, making acquisitions and investments, disposing of assets
and paying dividends

Senior Notes

The Semior Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and comprise €1,532 1 million
(2008 €1,630 million, 2007 €1,630 mullion) Senior Notes due 2016 (the “Euro Notes”) and $677 5
mulhion (2008 $700 million, 2007 $700 million) Semor Notes due 2016 (the “Dotlar Notes™) The
Semor Notes bear interest at 7 875% per annum for the Euro Notes and 8 5% for the Dollar Notes,
payable semi-annually 1n arrears on 15 February and 15 August of each year Unless previously
redeemed as noted below, the Senior Notes will be redeemed by the Group at thewr principal amount on
15 February 2016

In July 2009 the Group finalised the settlement of a legal claim agamst a third party The
defendant agreed to acquire Senior Notes 1ssued by the Group and to then transfer them to the Group
by way of settlement The total settlement value was $35 million (€25 1 million) and the Group
recerved Senior Notes with a book value of €114 1 milhon  The transaction resulted in a gain of €89 0
mullion which has been accounted for as exceptional finance income (see Note 5)
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20. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Senior Notes will be subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 February 2011, at the
option of the Group, 1n whole or 1n part, at the following redemption prices (expressed as percentages
of the principal amount}, if redeemed during the 12-month period beginning 15 February of the years
indicated below

Euro Notes Dollar Notes
Year redemption price redemption price
2011 103 938% 104 250%
2012 102 625% 102 833%
2013 101 313% 101 417%
2014 and thereafter 100 0% 100 0%

In each case, the redemption premium will be 1n addition to accrued and unpaid interest, 1f any,
to the redemption date (subject to the rights of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive
nterest due on an interest payment date)

The Senior Notes are secured by junior pledges of all of the shares of Ineos Group Holdings plc
The Senior Notes are graranteed by Ineos Group Holdings plc and 1ts material operating subsidiaries
on an unsecured sentor subordinated basis (excluding any Incos Vinyls operating subsicdharies) Such
guarantees only become due 179 days after an event of default on the Senior Notes has occurred or
earlier under certain circumstances

The Indenture contains a number of operating and financial covenants including limitations on
indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend
payments

Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes

The Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes of €161 2 mullion (2608 €161 7 milhion, 2007 €162 4 million)
bear interest at 9 125% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears on 1 June and | December of each
year The Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes are histed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange Unless previously
redeemed, the Ineos Vinyls Sentor Notes will be redeemed by the Group at their principal amount on 1
December 2011

The payments due under the Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes are uncondittonally guaranteed by the
Group The guarantee 1s a seniot, unsubordinated obligation of the Group, ranking parn passu with 1ts
obligations under the Sentor Notes, except that 1t will not be secured by the shares of Ineos Group
Holdings plc and the Funding Loans from the Group to Ineos Group Holdings ple  The Ineos Vinyls
Senior Notes are not guaranteed by the guarantors of the Senior Notes

The Ineos Vinyls Indenture contains a number of operating and financial covenants mcluding
limitattons on indebtedness, restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and
davidend payments

The Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes are stated net of debt 1ssue costs of €1 3 million (2008 €1 3
mullion, 2007 €2 0 milhon) These costs are allocated to the profit and loss account over the term of
the Senior Notes in accordance with 1AS 39 - Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement

Recewables Securinsation Facility

The Group has entered into a five year €1,500 million receivables securitisation facilittes
agreement (“Recetvables Secuntisation Facility”) On 9 Apnil 2009, the Group entered 1nto an
amendment agreement to reduce the overall facility to €1,200 milhon for the remaining term of the
facility and to increase margins on amounts drawn and the commitment fee on amounts undrawn The
total amount outstanding at 31 December 2009 was €607 0 mullion (2008 €750 6 mullion, 2007
€1,089 7 million)
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20. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Receivables Securitisation Facility 1s stated net of debt 1ssue costs of €2 2 million (2008

€2 2 mullion, 2007 €5 1 million)

Finance lease liabilities

Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

Less than one year
Between one and five years
More than five years

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Current

Trade payables

Amounts due to related parties
Other payables

Deferred consideration
Accnuals and deferred income

Non-current

Amounts due to related parties
Other payables

Accruals and deferred income
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Minimum
lease
payments Interest Principal
2009
€m
16 {02) 14
69 (63) 06
10 6 {11) 95
191 (7.6) 11.5
Mimmum
lease
payvments Interest Principal
2008
€m
48 (16) 32
157 (1o 47
148 (18) 130
353 (14 4) 209
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Principal
2007
€m
23 (08) 15
155 (6 8) 87
150 (11) 139
328 87) 24.1
2009 2008 20067
€m
8963 7070 24250
1619 104 7 361
672 5 5722 5150
303 308 304
970 5 1,036 9 948 7
27315 2,451 6 3,979 2
40 36 49
303 695 512
439 295 409
782 102 6 970




Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension plans

The Group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world, devised 1n accordance
with local conditions and practices The plans are generally of the defined benefit type and are funded
by payments to separately admimistered funds or insurance companies The principal funded plans are
in the United Kingdom, North America, Belgium and Norway

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in Germany
and France

The most recent full valuations of the sigmficant defined benefit plans were carried out as
follows

Plan Country Valuation date
Chlor United Kingdom 31 December 2007
Innovene United Kingdom 31 December 2008
All Plans North America 1 January 2009

All Plans Belgum 31 December 2009
Borealis Norway 31 December 2007
Noretyl Norway 31 December 2009
All plans France 31 December 2009
All Plans Germany 31 December 2009

These valuations have been updated where appropriate to 31 December 2009 by mndependent
qualified actuaries

The Group’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes 1n
the United Kingdom, North America and Other European Other European principally includes the
Group’s pension plans in Germany, Belgium, Norway and France

Pension plan assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the year end were as
follows

United Kingdom North America Other European

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

%
Major assumptions
Rate of general increase 1n

salaries 46 46 48 35 40 40 2750 2845 28-45
Rate of increase to pension

1N payment 35 i 33 00 00 00 1020 1043 10-43
Dhscount rate for scheme

Liabilities 57 61 58 60 58 63 4558 4060 48-55
Inflation 36 31 33 25 25 00 2023 2025 20-23
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22, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

The assurnptiens relating to longevity underlying the pension habilities at the reperting date are
based on standard actuanial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in
longevity The assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as
follows

United Kingdom North America Other European
2009 2008 2007 2008 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
years years years years years years years years years
Longevity at age 65
for current 191- 189- 188-  181- 181- 16i—-  180- 170- 170~
pensioners 211 209 208 19 5 19 5 19 § 232 230 230

Expected long-term rate of return 1s as follows
Umted Kingdom North America Other European

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
%

Equities 81 82 80 88 96 93 7078 73-78 70
Bonds 51 52 51 44 57 68 4045 5055 48
Property 81 82 806G 72 66 N/A 65-70 65 58
Other 43 40 45 N/A N/A N/A 30-56 3559 4553

Post-retirement health care plans

The Group also operates a number of post retirement healthcare plans, primarily in the United
States and Europe, which provide employees with other post-employment benefits in respect of health
care The plans are unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits 1s included 1n provisions
The liabihity 15 assessed by quahfied independent actuaries under the projected unit method, assuming
the following rates

Rate Country 2009 2008 2007
%

Liability discount rate UsaA 60 58 63

Liabihity discount rate Europe N/A 58 55

Long-term healthcare trend rate UsA 50 50 45

Long-term healthcare trend rate Europe NIA 28 20

History of plans

The Group has taken the exemption m IFRS 1 that permuts 1t to elect to provide disclosures
prospectively from the date of transition to IFRS of I January 2007

The history of the plans for the current and prior periods 1s as follows

Consolidated balance sheet

2009 2008 2007
€m

Present value of the defined benefit obhgation in respect
of pension plans (1733 4) (1,512 6) (1,758 3)
Present value of obligations 1n respect of post retirement
health care plan 378 (482) (327
Unrecogmised Past Service Cost 57 - -
Farr value of plan assets 9414 7787 1,237 §
Deficit o, v e s o + & . (824 1) (782.1) (553.2)
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22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

The Group’s net liability tn respect of defined benefit obhigations 1s as follows

Oblgations in respect of pension plans

United Kingdom
North America

Other European

Obligations 1n respect of post-retirement health care plans

Unrecogmsed past service cost

Recognmised Liability for defined benefit oblhigations.. .

Experience adjustments

Expernience adjustments (loss)/gain on plan liabilities
Experience adjustments as a percentage of plan liabilities
Experience adjustments gain/(loss) on plan assets

Expenience adjustments as a percentage of plan assets

(forming part of the financial statements)

2009 2008 2007
€m

3882 2903 1959
667 569 10

3371 386 7 3236

7920 7339 5205
378 482 327
(el - -

824 1 782 1 5532

2009 2008 2007

€m/%

(12 9) (512) (107)
(G 7% 3 9% (0 6Y%
849 {379 8) (19 3)

9 0% (48 8)% (16)%

The Group expects to contribute approximately €72 7 million to 1ts funded defined benefit plans

mn the next financial year This excludes direct company benefit payments and payments in relation to

unfunded defined benefit plan schemes

Expense recognised in the consolidated income statement

Current service cost
Past service cost
Losses/(gains) on

curtallments and settlements

[nterest on obligation

Expected return on plan
assets

Current service cost
Past service cost
Losses/(gains) on

curtaillments and settlements

Interest on obligation
Expected return on plan
assets

Pension Plan

United Kingdom

North America

Other European

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
315 479 477 90 90 77 232 232 191
05 - 05 {02) - 02 - 47 64
23 (7 6) 38 231 (32) 41 89 97 -
570 612 606 97 100 103 243 225 172
452) (666) (691) (80) (126) (133 (53) 64) h
46.1 34.9 359 336 32 90 511 343 37.6
Post retirement health care plans Total
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
23 24 26 660 825 771
07 03 (13 6) 10 50 (6 5)
- 67 - 343 (26 2) 03
24 25 24 934 962 905
- - - (58 5) {85 6) (87 5)
54 0.5) (8.6) 136 2 719 73.9
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22, EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

The expense 1s recogmsed 1n the following line items 1n the consolidated income statement

2009 2008 2007
€m
Cost of sales 1013 613 709
Finance mcome (585) (85 6) (875)
Finance cost 934 962 90 5
136.2 7.9 739

Actuarial gawns and losses, before tax, recogmised directly 1n equity 1n the statement of
comprehensive income since 1 January 2007, the transition date to IFRSs

2009 2008 2007
€m
Cumulative amount at 1 January 270 9) 503 -
{Loss)/gain recogmsed 1n the year (189 (3212) 503
Cumulative amount at 31 December . ... o . . ceen (289 8) (270.9) 503
Pension plans
United Kingdom North America
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007

€m
Present value of
funded obligations 1,1521 855 1 1,166 9 140 8 1853 166 2
Present value of
unfunded obligations -

1,1521 8551 1,166 9 140 8 1853 166 2

Fair value of plan
assets {763 9) {564 8) (971 0) (74 1) (128 4) (165 2)
Deficit... . ... ... 388 2 2903 1959 66.7 569 10
Other European Total
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Present value of
funded obligations 1397 1620 1456 1,432 6 12024 1,478 7
Present value of
unfunded obhigations 3008 3102 2796 3008 3102 2796
440 5 4722 4252 1,733 4 1,5126 17583
Fair value of plan
assets (103 4) (85 5) (1016} (941 4) (778 7 (1,237 8)
Deficit . ... .. . 3371 3867 3236 7920 7339 5205
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22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation
United Kingdom

At | January

Interest cost

Current service cost
Special termination cost
and past service cost
Member contributions
Curtailments
Settlements

Bencfits paid
Reclassifications
Acquisitions
Dusposals

Actuarial loss/(gain)
Exchange

At 31 December .

At | January

Interest cost

Current service cost
Special termination cost and
past service cost
Member contnbutions
Curtatlments
Settlements

Benefits paid
Reclassifications
Acquisitions
Disposals

Actuanial loss/{gatn})
Exchange

At 31 December...... .

North America

Movements n fair value of plan assets

At 1 January

Benefit payments
Group contnbutions
Member contributions
Expected return on plan
assets

Actuanal gain/(loss)
Acquisitions
Disposals

Settlements
Reclassifications
Exchange movements

At 31 December . . .. .

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
8551 1,166 9 12189 1853 1662 1874
570 612 606 97 109 103
315 479 477 90 90 77
31 - 05 (0 2) - 02
45 56 65 - - -
0n (7 6) 38 02 02) (14)
0 4) - - (45 2) (30) 55
(202) (127 (11 8) 1) (67 223)
- (0 4) - - (17 {(53)
27 24 - - 23 160
- - - (14 8) (64) -
136 4 (117 2) (45 4) 06 202 (13 4)
825 (281 0) {106 3) (13 56 (18 5)
1,152.1 855.1 1,166 9 140 8 1853 166 2
Other European Total
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
4722 4252 3657 1,512 6 17583 1,772 0
243 225 172 910 937 881
232 232 191 637 801 74 5
89 47 64 18 47 71
- - - 45 56 65
- 57 - 03) (13 5) 52)
- “0 - (45 6) 70 55
(29 4) (26 6) (300) 517) (56 0) (64 1}
(279 (56) (7 4) 279 an (12 7)
- 107 572 27 154 732
98) - - (24 6) 64 -
297) 368 (3 3) 107 3 {602) (62 1)
87 90 03 89 9 (294 4) (124 5)
,,,,,,, 440 5 4722 4252 1,733 4 1,512.6 1,758.3
United Kingdom North America
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
5648 9710 9770 128 4 1652 1753
{20 2) (127 (118) vay (67 (22 3)
455 355 411 127 287 14
45 56 65 - - -
452 666 69 1 80 126 133
671 (293 5) (23 2) 51 (589) 68
27 24 - - 23 89
- - - 93 (57 -
03 - - (68 5) 23 -
54 6 (210 D) 877 (02) 32 (18 2)
7639 564 8 971 0 74.1 128.4 1652

70




Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009

(forming part of the financial statements)

22. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

QOther European Total
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
At 1 January 855 101 6 787 7787 1,237 8 12310
Benefit payments (29 4) (26 6) (300) 517 (56 0) 64 1)
Group contnbutions 283 s 249 865 957 674
Member contributions - - - 45 56 65
Expected return on plan
assets 53 64 51 585 856 875
Actuanal gain/(loss) 127 (27 4) (2 9) 849 (379 8) (19 3)
Acquisittons - 107 289 27 154 378
Disposals - - (3 3) ©3) ()] 33
Settlements - 40 - (68 8) 63 -
Reclassifications 47 - . 47 - -
Exchange movements 57 67 02 60 1 (213 6) (1057
At 31 December . ..vereenen. . 103 4 BSS 101 6 9414 778 7 1,237 8

The overall expected rate of return 1s calcutated by weighting the individual rates in accordance

with the anticipated balance 1n the plan’s investment portfolio

The fair value of the plan assets and the return on those assets were as follows

United Kingdom

North America

2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Equities 5742 3976 7671 4790 797 104 5
Corporate bonds 174 5 144 6 177 5 203 378 607
Property 43 74 81 68 109 -
Other 109 152 18 3 - - -
763 G 564 8 971 0 74 1 128 4 165 2
Actual return on plan assets... 112.3 (226.9) 45.8 131 (46 3) 20.2
Other European Total
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Equities 43 8 272 555 6650 504 5 9271
Corporate bonds 192 263 329 2140 208 7 2711
Property 19 12 42 130 195 123
Other 385 08 90 494 460 273
103 4 855 101 6 9414 778 7 1,237 8
Actual return on plan assets 18.0 (210) 22 1434 (294 2) 682
Post-retirement health care plans
Reconcihation of present value of scheme liabilities
2009 2008 2007
€m
At ]l January 482 127 49 8
Current service cost 23 24 26
Past service cost / (credit) 65 03 (13 6)
Curtailment/settiement - (57 -
Contributions {03) {0 4) 1)
Interest cost 25 25 24
Actuarial (gain)/loss (3 5) 16 (75)
(Dusposalsyacquisitions (14 1) 132 65
Reclassifications 32) - (38
Exchange adjustments {06) 16 3 6)
At 31 December . . e e e e e e . 378 482 32.7
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22 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

The post-retirement healthcare plans do not hold any assets

The sensitivity of the present value of scheme habilities and aggregate of service and interest
cost to changes in the medical trend rate 1s set out below

2009 2008 2007
Sensitivity to a change in Sensitivity to 2 change n Sensitivity to a change in
medical trend rate medical trend rate medical trend rate
Increase of  Decrease of  Increase of  Decreaseof  Increaseof — Decrease of
1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 1%
Impact on scheme
Liabilities 53 44 69 {(56) 51 41n
Impact on aggregate of
service and Interest cost 06 (0 5) 03 (0 6) 12 (09

The above sensitavity information for 2007 1s calculated for the principal plan n the USA It excludes
any impact ansing from the smaller scheme tn France for which no informatton was available to the
actuary for that year

23. PROVISIONS

Severance
and
restructu- Joint
ring costs Remediation ventures Qther Total
€m

At | January 2009 521 469 323 851 2164
Reclassifications 26 17 - (12 31
Disposals (15) - (20 3) {(607) (82 5)
Charged to the consolidated
Imncome statement 177 02 (112) 81 14 8
Discount unwinding - 20 - - 20
Utihsed 1n the year (390) (184) - (12 5) (69 9)
Released 1n the year (0 1) 02) - - (03)
Exchange adjustments 02 50 (0 8) 1) 43
At 31 December 2009 320 372 - 187 879
Non — current 226 767 - 827 182 ¢
Current 421 102 - 259 782
Balance at 31 December 2007 647 869 - 108 6 2602
Non — current 225 413 323 673 163 4
Current 296 56 - 17 8 530
Balance at 31 December 2008 321 46 9 323 851 216 4
Non — current 233 241 - 80 554
Cutrent ... 87 13 1 - 107 325
Balance at 31 December 2009 . . . 320 372 - 187 87.9

Severance and restructuring costs

As described in Note 5, the Group has implemented a restructuring programme of the Innovene
business The restructuring costs largely relate to severance and early retirement costs and the
programme 15 expected to continue for another 2 years

Other restructuring charged in 2009 primarily relate to restructuring and the provision of
severance payments in the Compounds and ABS businesses
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23. PROVISIONS (Continued)

Remediation costs

The Group has provided for the cost of remediation works where there 1s a legal or constructive
obligaton for such work to be carmied out The provision was established to meet the clean up costs of
contaminated so1l and groundwater, the removal of potentially hazardous substances and rectification
work required to ensure comphiance with license to operate obligattons These costs relate mamnly to the
Group's production facilities at the Runcorn, Warrington, Cologne, Grangemouth, Lavéra, Chocolate
Bayou, Green Lake, Lima and Texas City sites The provision only covers items of specific work for
which a reasonable estimate can be determuined The required work 1s expected to be completed within
the next four year period The nterest rate used to determine the obligation n the balance sheet at 31
December 2009 was 9 0% (2008 8 0%, 2007 7 5%) By their nature the amounts and timing of any
outflows 1n respect of remed:ation costs are difficult to predict

Other provisions

At 31 December 2008 Other provisions inciuded an amount in respect of expected losses on an
onerous raw matenal supply contract This contract was with the ABS business in Germany for the
penod until the end of the contract in 2012 The ABS business was sold in 2009  Other provisions
also include a number of provisions for other loss making contracts and commereial disputes

24  SHARE CAPITAL

2009 2008 2007
€m
Fully paid
11,500,231 (2008 11,500,231 2007 11,500,231}
Ordinary shares of £1 each 177 177 177

As the reporting currency of the Company 1s 1n euro, share capital has been converted to euro at
the effective rate of exchange ruling at the date of 1ssuance

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time
and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company

25 DIVIDENDS

The following dividends were recogmised duning the year
2009 2008 2007
€m
€n1l (2008 €mi 2007 €2 17) per ordinary share - - 250

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

26 a Fair value of financial instruments

Investments in debt and equity securities

The fair value of other investments shown as loans and receivables 1s esumated as the present
value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date

Available for sale financial assets are accounted for at fair value based on the present value of
future cash flows where such information 1s readily available However, as explained in Note 15, the
Group’s available for sale financial assets include certain equity interests which are not guoted and for
which there 1s no active market In these circumstances, in the absence of rehable information, the
Group considers that a reliable determination of fair value 1s not practicable and such investments are
recorded at their acquisition cost  The fair value has therefore been presented as the equivalent to the
carrying value at the reporting date The remainder of available for sale financial assets are valued at
fair value based on the present value of future cash flows estimated from financial information made
available during the year as a result of a recent transaction n the investment
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to far value due to
therr short maturities Where settlement 1s not due 1n the short term and where the effect 1s matenal,
fair value 1s estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest
at the reporting date

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of irade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to
their short matunittes Where setilement 1s not due 1n the short term and where the effect 1s matenal,
fair value 1s estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest
at the reporting date

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents 1s estimated as its carrying amount where the cash 1s
repayable on demand Where 1t is not repayable on demand then the fair value 1s estimated at the
present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date

Interest-bearing borrowings

The fair value of the Sentor Notes and Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes are based on the prices of
recent transactions on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange where they are histed The fair value of other
interest-bearing borrowings, which after initial recognitton 1s determined for disclosure purposes only,
15 calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the
market rate of interest at the reporting date Market discount rates appled range from 5% to 10%
(2008 6% to 9%, 2007 5% to 8%) The fair value of finance leases 1s determined by reference to
market rates for similar lease agreements The significant decline in the fair value of these financial
habilities at 31 December 2008 was as a result of the impact of the global financial crisis on the
markets that the Group’s debt 1s traded within and the impact on the wider economy resulting in
significant dechines in commodity prices

Derivative financial instruments

The fair value of forward exchange contracts 1s based on market quotes where they are
available Ifa hsted market price 1s not available, then fair value 1s estimated by discounting the
difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity
of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds)

The fair value of interest rate swaps and commodity contracts are based on market or broker
quotes Those quotes are tested for reasonableness by discounting estimated future cash flows based
on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market interest rates for a similar imstrument at the
measurement date The 1nterest rates used to discount estunated cash flows were between 1 6% and
36% (2008 3 7% to S 7%, 2007 4 7% to 5 1%)
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair values

The fair values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities together with therr
carrying amounts shown 1n the consolidated balance sheet are as follows

Carrying Carrying Carrymng
amount Farr value amount Fair value amount Fair value
2009 2008 2007
€m
Financial assets held for trading at
fair value through profit or loss:
Denvative Commodity contracts 29 29 254 254 19 19
Interest rate swaps - - - - 56 56
Forward exchange contracts - - 03 03 -
29 29 257 257 75 75
Derivative commodity contracts
designated as cash flow hedges
Carried at fatr value - - 105 8 1058 - -
- - 105 8 105 8 - -
Available for sale equity
investments
Carried at fair value 458 458 - - - -
Carried at cost 364 364 490 490 477 477
Total available for sale equity
INVESEMENLS . covervee wommvees oo« & . 822 822 490 490 477 477
Loans and receivables carried at
amortised cost.
Trade receivables 1,536 3 1,5363 1,574 1 1,574 1 2,888 | 2,888 1
Amounts due from related parties 2541 2541 2386 2386 1896 1896
Other receivables 194 7 194 7 2509 2509 2904 2904
Other investments 1297 124 § 123 5 122 1 - -
Loans and receivables 2,114 8 2,1099 2,187 1 2,i857 3,368 1 3,368 1
Cash and cash equivalents 662 1 662 1 6518 6518 951 4 9514
2,776 9 27720 28389 2,8375 4,319 5 43195
Total financial assets . L. ... 28620 2,857 1 3,019.4 3,0180 4,374 7 4,374 7
Financial habilities held for trading
at far value through profit and loss
Dernivauve Commodity contracts 65 65 03 03 06 06
Forward exchange contracts - - 02 02 -
65 65 05 05 06 06
Financial liabilities carried at
amortised cost
Semor Facilities Agreement 5,003 7 50037 49293 2,4672 4,896 8 4,802 4
Semor Notes 1,969 9 10849 20888 268 8 20626 1,788 7
Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes 1599 1394 160 4 162 1604 154 4
Securitisation Facility 603 4 603 4 748 4 748 4 1,084 6 1,084 6
Other bank loans 09 09 16 16 22 22
Finance iease habilities it5 115 209 209 24 1 241
Trade payables 8963 8963 7070 7070 24290 24290
Amounts due to related parties 1659 1659 108 3 1083 610 610
Other payables 702 8 7028 641 2 6412 5657 5657
95143 8,608 8 9,405 9 4,979 6 112864 10,212 i
Total financial habilities . .. . ... . 9,520 8 8,615.3 9,406.4 4,980 1 11,2870 10,912 7
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26, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair value of the Senior Facilities Agreement has been determined using a level 3 valuation
technique and non-observable inputs for the discount rate of equivalent debt The movement 1n the fair
value during the year not recognused in these accounts includes an increase of €2,768 5 million (2008
decrease of €2,176 3 muliion, 2007 decrease of €203 2 millien)

The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method The
different levels, determined 1n accordance with IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments Disclosure”, have been
defined as follows

o Level | quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 1dentical assets or liabilities,

* Level 2 1nputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, erther directly (1 e as prices) or indirectly (1 e derived from prices), and

e Level 3 mputs for the asset or hability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable
mputs)

Fair Level Level Level Fair Level Level Level Farr Level Level
Value 1 2 3 Value 1 2 3 Value 1 2

Level

2008 2008 2007

Financial assets held for
trading at fair value through

profit or loss:

Dernvative Commodity

contracts

29 - 29 - 254 - 254 - 19 - 19

Interest rate swaps - - - - - - - - 56 - 56
Forward exchange contracts - - - - 03 - 03 - - - -
Derivative commodity

contracts designated as cash

flow hedges carried at fair

value

- - - - 1058 - 1058 - - - -

Available for sale equity
mvestments carried at fair

value

458 - - 458 - . - - . - -

Financial habilities held for
trading at fair value through

profit and loss

Denvative Commodity

contracts

65) (63) - (03) - @3 - {06) - (06)

Forward exchange contracts - - - - 02) - ©2) - - - -

Total financial assets and
habilities held at fair value ..., _42.2 - _(36) 458 1310 - 1310 - (6.9) - (69

There have been no transfers from Level 2 to Level 11n 2009 (2008 no transfers in either
direction)

26 b Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the
amortisation of discounts, the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the
transtation of foreign currencies, interest, dividends and atl effects on profit or loss of financial
nstruments

Net gans from receivables and loans relate primanly to recogmition and derecognition of
impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies and 1nterest income
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
26.b Net gains and losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation
of discounts, results from the translation of foreign currencies, mterest expense and other financing
related expenses

The item ‘financial mstnrments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprse valuation gains and
losses, and only includes gains and losses from mstruments which are not designated as hedging
mstruments as defined by 1AS 39

No gains or losses on items measured at fair value have been recognised in the income
statement in respect of fair values determined based on a level 3 valuation technique using non-
observable inputs Gains totalling €33 2 milhon (2008 €nil, 2007 €mil) on available for sale equuty
mvestments have been recogmised n the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31
December 2009 based on a level 3 valuation technique using non-observable inputs There have been
no other movements in financtal assets and hiabilities held at fair value based on a level 3 valuation
technique so a reconciliation table has not been presented

Loans and receivables Available for sale financial assets
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Interest income 133 399 313 - - -
Dividend income - - - 73 39 65
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) 347 164 {867 - - -
INet FESUIt cuovrereeersenernanassanees o0 ... 480 56.3 (554) 7.3 3.9 6.5
Carrying value at 31 December ... _2,7769 2,8389 4,3195 822 490 477
Financial instruments at fair value
Liabilities measured at amortised cost through profit or loss
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Redemption premium on early
settlement of Sentor Bonds 890 - - - - -
Interest cost (715 8) 6817 (696 1) - - -
Loss on extingutshment of
Senior Factlities Agreement
Debt (209 2) - - - - -
Other finance cost (112) (78) 21 - - -
Net fair value gains/(losses) on
derivatives - - - (23 2) 129 46
Foreign exchange gains/(losses) (G111 (142 8) 76 - - -
Net result . . .. . (878 3) (832.3) (690.6) (23.2) 12.9 4.6
Carrying value at
31 December .. .. ... . {95143 (9,405 9) (11,286 4) {36) 1310 69

26 ¢ Credit nisk

Financwl risk management

Credit risk 1s the nisk of financial loss to the Group 1f a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet 1ts contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables
from customers, deposits with financial instistutions and derivatives

Group Treasury policy and objectives 1n relation to credit risk 1s to mmimise the likehthood that
the Group will experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a
single loss, the failure of any single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing
of the Group
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

26.c Net gains and losses from financial instruments (Continued)

Trade and other recervables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk 1s imfluenced mainly by the individual characteristics of
each customer However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base,
mncluding the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may
have an influence on credit risk, particularly in the currently deteriorating economic circumstances
Management considers that there 1s no geographical concentration of credit risk

The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer 1s analysed
mmdividually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delvery terms and
conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly The Group’s review includes external ratings, when
available, and 1n some cases bank references Purchase limits are established for each customer, which
represent the maximum open amount without requiring approval Customers that fail to meet the
Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis

Investments, cash and cash equivalent

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship
Occasionally deposits are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements,
reducing the credit exposure of the Group

Guarantees

The Group’s policy 1s to provide financial guarantees only to wholly-owned subsidiaries At 31
December 2009 no guarantees were outstanding (2008 none, 2007 none)

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure Therefore, the
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets
Further details on the Group’s exposure to credit risk are given in Note 19

26.d Ligqudity nisk

Financial risk management

Liquidity risk 1s the risk that the Group will not be able to meet 1ts financial obligations as they
fall due The Group’s approach to managing hquidity 1s to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always
have sufficient Liquidity to meet 1ts liabilities when due, under normat and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group The Group’s exposure to hquidity risk
1s imited by the fact that it operates with sigmficant cash resources, and i1t mantains the most
appropriate mix of short, medium and leng-term borrowings from the Group’s lenders

The Group is reliant on committed funding from a variety of sources at Group and subsidiary
company level to meet the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group's
budget

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and
monthly basis This information 1s used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash
balances at bank 1n order to calculate the levet of funding that will be requured in the short and medium
term On a monthly basis the ievel of headroom on existing facilities 1s reported and forecast forward
until the end of the financial period In addition, the Group maintams the following lines of credst

. Semor Facilities Agreement - €3,915 8 miilion (2008 €3,926 4 milhion, 2007 €3,804 8 million)
and $£1,555 8 mullion (2008 $1,629 2 milhon, 2007 $1,770 7 million) facibity that 1s secured
Interest 1s payable at rates of EURIBOR and $L.IBOR plus 6-83% (2008 EURIBOR and
$LIBOR plus 4-6%, 2007 EURIBOR and $L.IBOR plus 4-6%)

. Receivables Securitisation Facihity - €1,200 milhion (2008 €1,500 million, 2007 €1,500
million) that can be drawn down to meet short-term financing needs The facility renews
automatically at the option of the Group and expires in 2011 Interest 1s payable at a variable
rate and the margin 1s linked to the credit rating of the receivables inctuded 1n the securitisation
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
26.d Liguidity nsk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s undrawn committed faciliies at 31 December 2009, 2008
and 2007 was as follows

2009 2008 2007
Undrawn Undrawn Undrawn
facilities facilitres facilities
€m
In one year - - 25
In more than one year, but not more than two years - - -
In tnore than two years, but not more than five years 87 660 367
In more than five vears - - 4250
8.7 66 0 464 2
The undrawn commutted facilities are 1n respect of overdraft facilities of €nil (2008 €nil, 2007
€2 5 million), unused commutted Revolving Credit Facilities of €8 7 milhon (2008 €66 0 million,
2007 €425 0 million) and unused commutted Securitization Facilities of €mil (2008 €nil, 2007 €36 7
miliion)
The following are the contractual maturities of financial habilities, including estimated interest
payments and excluding the effect of netting agreements
2009
Contra-
Carrying ctual cash 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<5 5 years and
amount flows Iess years years over
€m
Non-derivative financial hiabihities
Semor Faciliies Agreement 50037 (7,059 8) (1,1713) (603 9) (4407 0) (877 6)
Senior Notes 1,969 9 (3.025 8) (170 0} (170 0) (509 9) (2,175 9)
Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes 1599 (189 2) (14 6) (174 6) - -
Secuninsation Facility 603 4 (635 2) (24 9) (610 3) - -
Other loans 09 (40 8) (13 5) (133) (14 0) -
Finance lease liabilities 115 (26 7} {18) 50 82) (117
Trade payables 8963 (901 4) (901 4) - - -
Amounts due to related parties 1659 (178 5) (164 ) 61 63) 21
Other payables 7028 (702 8) (646 8) (56 0) - -
Derivative financial habilities
Forward exchange contracts 65 (65) (6 5) - - -
9,520.8 (12,766.7) (3,114 8) (1,639 2) (4,945 4) (3,067.3)
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206 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Centmued)

2008
Contra-
Carrying ctual cash 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<5 5 years and
amount flows less years years over
€m
Non-derivative financial habihities
Semor Facilities Agreement 49293 (6,8109) (995 4) (599 1) (1,422 0) (3,794 4)
Senior Notes 2,088 8 (3,3180) (170 4) (170 4) (5113) (2,465 9)
Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes 1604 (205 5) (14 6) {14 6) (176 3) -
Secunitisation Facthty 748 4 (839 4) (35 5) (35 5) (768 4) -
Other loans 16 (16) 0 4) 02) - {10)
Finance lease hahhities 209 s 7 (6 4) 89 (17 8) {16 6)
Trade payables 7070 (707 0) (707 0) - - -
Amounts due to related parties 1083 (144 3) {1107 G 6) (180) [(:30)]
QOther payables 6412 (641 2) 571D (69 5) - -
Derivative financial habtlities
Forward exchange contracts 05 {035 05) - - -
9,406 4 (12,718 1) {2,612 6) (907 8) (2,913.8) (6,283.9)
2007
Contra-
Carrying ctual cash 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<$ S years and
amount flows less years years over
€m
Non-derivative financial
habilities
Senior Facilities Agreement 4,896 8 (7,177 7) (606 4) (599 4) (1,823 5) (4,148 4)
Senior Notes 2,0626 (3,464 2) (169 2) (169 2) (507 6) (2,6182)
Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes 160 4 (220 8) (14 6) (14 6) (191 6) -
Securitisation Facility 1,084 6 (1,333 6) 697y 69 7) (1,194 2) -
Other bank loans 22 22) (04) 0 4) 03) (an
Finance lease hahlities 241 (41 5) (31) (70 (153) (16 1)
Trade payables 2,4290 (2,429 ) (2,429 0) - - -
Amounts due to related parties 610 (97 0) (62 1} (10 9) (180) (6 0)
Other payables 5657 (565 7) (5145 (51 2) - -
Derivative finanaial habilities
Forward exchange contracts 06 06 (0 6) - - -
11,287 0 (15,332.3) (3,869 6) (922.4) (3,750 5) (6,789.8)

26.e Net mnvestment and cash flow hedges

The Group has derivative commodity contracts that qualify as cash flow hedges at 31 December
2009 with a carrying value of €ml (2008 €105 8 milhion, 2007 €ml) No gains or losses were taken to

the hedge reserve in respect of these contracts during 2009 (2008 gain of €105 8 mullion, 2007 €nl)

The amount of gains recycled from the hedge reserve during the year totalled €165 8 million before tax

or €76 3 mullion net of tax (2008 €mn1l, 2007 €ml) These cash flow hedges are used to manage the
price risk 1n respect of certain forecast purchases of raw materials and sales of petrochemical-based
products from the Group’s refining activittes The forecast purchases and sales are hedged using
forward and swap contracts linked to the o1l price The cash flows associated with cash flow hedging
instruments are all expected to occur and impact on the profit or loss within less than one year
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group has USS$ and Sterling financtal liabilities in respect of the Semor Facilities
Agreement and Securiisation Facility that are designated net investment hedges of USS and Sterhing
operations in accordance with the requirements of 1AS 21 “The effects of changes 1n Foreign Exchange
Rates” The US$ and Sterling net investment hedges had a carrying value and fair value as follows

Carrymg Carrying Carryming
amounts Fair value amounts Fair value amounts Farr value
2009 2009 2008 2008 2007 2007
€m
USS (699 5) {485 9) (7779 (317 8) (960 8) (893 8)
Sterling (40 8) (40 6) 472) (47 1) (682) (679)
(740 3) (526 5) (825 1) (364.9) (1,029 0) (961.7)

For the year ended 31 December 2009 gains totalling €13 9 million were taken directly to
reserves and reported n the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year then ended (2008 losses
€40 0 mllion, 2007 gans €240 5 mullion) There was no ineffectiveness recogmised 1n the income
statement for the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008 €ml, 2007 €nl)

26.f Market risk

Financial risk management

Market risk reflects the possibility that changes in market prices, such as crude o1, feedstock
refined products, chemicals or currency exchange rates or changes in interest rates will adversely affect
the value of the Group’s assets, liabilittes or expected future cash flows The Group holds interest rate
swaps, forward foreign exchange contracts, currency swaps and commodity contracts mn order to
manage market risk The use of derivative instruments 1s confined to speciahst teams that have the
appropnate skills, experience, supervision, control and reporting systems

(1) Market nisk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and s exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and Sterling

Foreign exchange risk arises from net investments 1n foreign operations, future commercial
transactions, and recognised assets and liabihities

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences ansing on the retranslation
of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment m a foreign operation When the
settlement of a monetary 1tem receivable from or payable to a foreign operation 1s neither planned nor
likely 1n the foreseeable future, foreign exchange gans and losses arising from such a monetary item 1s
considered to form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and changes 1n the fair value are
recognised directly within equuty

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue 1s generated 1n, or linked to, the US dollar and the
euro In the refining business the prices of fimshed products and of the underlymg raw materials are
primarily denominated m US dollars, while the costs are largely denominated 1n euros and sterling In
the European petrochemical business, product prices, certain feedstock costs and most other costs are
denominated m euro and sterling In the US petrochemical and specialty chemicals businesses, product
prices, raw materials costs and most other costs are primarily denominated in US dollars

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign
cutrency transaction exposure, although the Group has done so i the past and may do so n the future
The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are
generated from the Group’s operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets / (habilities) are not
denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit involved 1s shown below Foreign
exchange differences on retranslation of these assets and labilities are taken to the income statement of
the Group

2009 2008 2007
€m
Euros 2233 368 601
US Dollars {570 6) 6347 (944 1)
Sterling (586 8) (215 5) (291 0}
Other 27 24 17)
(931 4) (811.0) (1,176 7)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% percent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December would have increased
(decreased) equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below This calculation assumes that the
change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date

This analysis assumes that all other vanables, in particular other exchange rates and interest
rates, remain constant The analysis 1s performed on the same basis for the comparative period

Equity Profit or loss
2009 2008 2007 2009 2008 2007
€m
Euros 740 719 1029 191 92 14 8
LS Dollars 700 672 96 1 (129) 37 (r7)
Sterling 41 47 68 546 16 8 223
Other - - - (03) {0 2) 02

A 10% percent strengthening of the above currencies agamst the euro at 31 December would
have had the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the
basis that all other vanables remain constant

(n)  Market risk — Interest rate risk
Profile

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s mterest-bearing financial
mstruments was

Carrying amount — asset / (habihity) 2009 2008 2007
€m

Fixed rate instruments

Financial assets 2119 1725 477

Financial liabilities (21422) (2271 7) (2,249 3)

(1,930.3) (2,099 2) (2,201 6)

Yanable rate instruments
Financial assets 662 1 6518 951 4
Financial hiabilities (5607 1) (5,677 7) (5,981 4)

(4,945 0) (5,025 9) (5,030 0)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1% in interest rates at the reporting date would have increased/(decreased) equity
and profit or loss by the amounts shown below This calculation assumes that the change occurred at
the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date
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26, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular forergn currency rates, remain
constant and considers the effect of financial instruments with vaniable interest rates, financial
mstrument at fair value through profit or loss or avatilable for sale with fixed interest rates and the fixed
rate element of mnterest rate swaps The analysis 1s performed on the same bas:s for 2009, 2008 and
2007

2009 2008 2007
€m

Equity
Increase - - -
Decrease - - -
Profit or loss
Increase 1n interest rates by 1% (49 4) (518} (516)
Decrease 1n interest rates by 1% 49 4 518 516

(m) Market risk — Commodity price risk

The Group 15 exposed to commeodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and
sales of products The raw material exposures result primarily from the price of crude o1l and base
chemucals linked to the price of crude The sales price exposures are primarily related to
petrochemicals where prices are in general hinked to the market price of crude o1l

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future
dates during the normal course of busmess that may be considered derivative contracts Where such
contracts exist and are m respect of the normal purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group’s
requirements, the own use exemption from derivative accounting 1s apphed

The Group manages commodity price exposures through trading crude oil, refined products and
chemical feedstock and using commodity swaps, options and futures as a means of managing price and
timing risks  The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that nisks,
mncluding those relating to the default of counterparties, are mintmised At 31 December 2009 the |
Group had swap and option contracts with a nominal exposure to purchase 1 4 million barmels of crude
o1l and other commodities (2008 19 8 million barrels, 2007 4 1 mullion barrels) and to sell the refined
product generated from those barrels of crude o1l

A 10 percent increase/decrease 1n commodity prices at the reporting date would have
decreased/increased the loss for the year by

2009 2008 2007
€m

Equity
Increase 1n commodity prices by 10% - 63 -
Decrease in commodity prices by 10% - (6 3) -
Profit or loss
Increase 1n commodity prices by 10% (25 3) (16 7) {15 1)
Decrease i commodity prices by 10% 253 16 7 151

Management consider that a change of 10 percent gives an appropnate benchmark to assess the
risks that the Group might reasonably be exposed to  This calculation assumes that the change
occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date This
analysis assumes that all other variables, 1n particular foreign currency rates, remain constant The
analysis 1s performed on the same basis for 31 December 2007, 31 December 2008 and 31 December
2009
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26 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
{1v) Market risk — Equity price risk

The Group’s exposure to equity price risk anses from its investment 1n equity secunties which
are classified as available for sale financial assets and are shown on the consolidated balance sheet as
other financial assets Available for sale financial assets are accounted for at fair value based on the
present value of future cash flows where such information 1s readily available However, as explamed
in Note 15, the Group’s available for sale financial assets include certain equity interests which are not
quoted and for which there 1s no active market In these circumstances, 1n the absence of reliable
information, the Group considers that a rehiable determination of fair value 15 not practicable and such
mvestments are recorded at thewr acquisition cost The fair value has therefore been presented as the
equivalent to the carrying value at the reporting date The remainder of available for sale financial
assets are valued at fair value based on the present value of future cash flows estimated from financial
mformation made available during the vear as a result of a recent transaction 1n the investment

For the available for sale investments carmied at fair value a 10 percent increase and decrease m
transaction prices at the reporting date would have decreased and increased the loss for the year by €4 6
million Management consider that a change of 10 percent gives an appropriate benchmark to assess
the risks that the Ineos Group 15 expected to be exposed to  This calculation assumes that the change
occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date Thus
analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant

26g Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern In order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital

The Group defines 1ts capital employed of €6,517 1 mullion (2008 €7,351 7 mullion, 2007
€8,279 4 million) as shareholders’ equity of €(570 1} million (2008 €54 1 mullion, 2007 €1,000 1
milhion) and net debt (net of debt 1ssue costs) of €7,087 2 mullion (2008 €7,297 6 million, 2007
€7,279 3 mitlion) The significant reduction 1n capital employed during the year arises in respect of the
loss for the year, actuarial losses on defined benefit pension schemes and foreign exchange losses

The principal sources of debt available to the Group at 31 December 2009 include the Semor
Faciliies Agreement, Sentor Notes, Ineos Vinyls Senior Notes and Receivables Securitisation Facility
and are described in Note 20 along with the key operating and financial covenants that apply to these
facilities

As described in Note 20, on 19 December 2008 the Group obtained a waiver 1n respect of
certain covenants in the Sentor Facilities Agreement On 19 July 2009 the Group successfully reached
agreement with 1ts senor lenders on a package of amendments to the Semior Facilities Agreement,
mncluding the reset of financial covenants (see Note 20) These amendments are key to the Group
meeting 1ts objecttves for managing capital

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, 1ssue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt The
ability of the Group to pay dividends and provide appropriate facilities to the Group 15 restricted by the
terms of principal financing agreements to which members of the Group are party
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27 OPERATING LEASES

Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows

2009 2008 2007

€m
Less than one year 813 1163 812
Between one and five years 2953 3695 2704
More than five years 2553 2200 3981
6319 705.8 749.7

The Group has certain operating lease arrangements 1n respect of manufacturing facihities and
combined heat and power plants where the Group has the option to acquire at fair value or depreciated
cost to the lessor in certain circumstances either during the life of the lease or at the end of the lease
term

28. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital expenditure authonsed by the Board and for which contracts had been
placed as at 31 December 2009 by the Group amounted to approximately €98 4 million (2008 €60 9
million, 2007 €209 0 million)

29. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

2009 2008 2007
€m
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents in the
year 202 (295 8) 3188
Cash outflow from change in debt financing 2128 3652 2603
Change n net debt resulting from cash flows 2330 694 5791
Finance leases acquired/disposed of with subsidiary 71 - (104)
Other net non-cash transactions (297 877 186 7
Movement 1n net debt i year 2104 (18.3) 755 4
Acquis-
itions Other Non
(excluding Cash
1 .Jan 2007 Cash Flow charges) Changes 31 Dec 2007
€m

Cash at bank and 1n hand 639 7 3188 - 27 1) 9314
Debt due within one vear (189 0) - - 62) (1952)
Debt due after more than one year (8,489 5) 2589 - 2192 (8,011 4)
Finance leases (159 14 {10 4) 08 (24 1)

(8,694 4) 2603 (10 4) 213 8 (8.2307)
Net debt.... ... . .. e... (8,034 579 1 (10.4) 186.7 (7,279 3)

Other Non
Cash
1 Jan 2008 Cash Flow Changes 31 Dec 2008
€m
Cash at bank and 1n hand 9514 (295 8) (38) 651 8
Debt due within one year (1952) {369 8) @74) (612 4)
Debt due after more than one year (80114) 7322 (369 (7316 1)
Finance leases 24 1) 28 04 (209)
(82307 3652 {83 9) (7,949 4)

INELAEDL . - . orvververers wemvrvermivers sveerms sorcmersmmrens seees eee (7,279 3) 69.4 877 _(7.2976)
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29. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

(Continued)
Other Non
Cash 31 Dec
1 Jan 2009 Cash Flow  Disposals Changes 2009
€m

Cash at bank and 1n hand 651 8 202 - 99 662 1
Debt due within one year (612 4) (167 7) - (578) (8379)
Debt due after more than one year (7.316 1) 3789 - 373 (6 899 9}
Finance leases (209) 16 71 07 (11 5)

(7,949 4) 2128 71 (19 8) (7.749 3)
Netdebt ... cr e e (7297 6) 2330 71 (297) (7,0872)
30. RELATED PARTIES
Identity of related parties with which the Group has transacted
Related parties comprise
. Parent entities and their subsidiartes not included within the Ineos Group Heldings plc group,
. Entities controlled by the partners of Ineos Capital Partners (“Ineos Capital”) which owns the

controlling interest in the share capital of Ineos Limited, the ultrmate parent company of Ineos
Group Holdings ple, and

. Key management personnel

The Group has a management services agreement with Ineos Capital Ineos Capital
management fees of €65 8 nullion (2008 €79 9 million, 2007 €71 2 million) and deal advisory fees of
€nil (2008 €nil, 2007 €4 0 million) were charged to the income statement during the year The Group
recovered costs of €0 2 nulhion (2008 €1 2 million, 2007 €0 9 million) At 31 December 2009
amounts owed to Ineos Capital were €4 1 mulhion (2008 €21 9 mullion, 2007 €27 8 million) Amounts
due from Ineos Capital Limited, a company controlled by the partners of Ineos Capital, were €nil
(2008 €44 1 million, 2007 €44 0 million)

The partners of Ineos Capital own a controlling interest in Vinyls Italia SpA The Group made
sales to this company of €ml (2008 €4 5 million, 2007 €21 7 million), recovered costs of €nil (2008
€0 4 milhion, 2007 €0 7 million) and made purchases of €ml (2008 €51 8 milhon, 2007 €56 8§
million) At 31 December, 2009 €nil (2008 €7 1 million, 2007 €9 5 miilion) was owed by and €nil
(2008 €6 0 multion, 2007 €6 9 million) was owed to Vinyls Italia SpA

During the year Ineos Industries Limited, a business owned controlled by Ineos Capatal,
acquired a controlling interest in vanous businesses from the Group (see Note 3) Subsequent to the
businesses ceasing to be part of the Group, the Group has made sales to the Ineos Industries Group of
€71 I million, recovered costs of €2 7 million and made purchases of €6 2 million At 31 December,
2009 €200 0 mllion was owed by and €84 5 million was owed to the Ineos Industries Group, Ineos
Intermediate Holdings Ltd, Ineos Group Ltd and other fellow subsidiaries of the Ineos Ltd Group

On 18 October, 2007 the Group acquired Ineos Chlor Atlantik GmbH from Ineos Enterprises, a
legally separate group of companies held under common control with Ineos Group Holdings plc  Ineos
Chior Atlantik GmbH operates a chlormne plant in Wiihelmshaven, Germany

The Group has entered into a number of ieases for office space with Ineos Capital on terims no
less favourable to us than what we would expect to negotiate with disinterested third parties  The
Group currently pay rent and service charges of approximately €1 8 milhon per year

There were a number of transactions with joint ventures, all of which arose in the normal course
of business The Group has made sales to joint ventures of €162 9 million (2008 €383 3 mullion, 2007
€501 7 million), recovered costs of €38 7 million (2008 €35 1 million, 2007 €50 8 million) and made
purchases of €429 4 mllion (2008 €29 6 mullion, 2007 €25 7 miilion) At 31 December, 2009 €32 5
million (2008 €46 4 million, 2007 €47 6 million) was owed by joint ventures and €43 7 mlhon (2008
€36 3 milhon, 2007 €7 8 million) was owed to joint ventures

86




Notes to the consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(formng part of the financial statements)

30. RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

Compensation 1o key management personnel (including directors)

The Group defines key management as the directors of the Company Details of Directors’
remuneration are given 1n Note §

Other transactions with related parties

Ineos Limited and 1ts subsidiaries operate certain benefits for designated employees for which
no charge 1s made to Ineos Group Holdings plc No charge 1s made 1n the financial statements for these
transactiens

1 The Group operates a number of pension plans throughout the world Further details of the
schemes are given in Note 22

2 The Group operates an incentive plan (refer Note 1) for certain employees Directors are excluded
from this scheme The Directors have determined that any charge calculated in accordance with
IFRS 2 (revised) would be immateriai

31 ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate parent undertaking is Ineos intermediate Holding Limited The ultimate parent
undertaking at 31 December 2009 was Incos Limited, a company registered in England and Wales As
of 26 March 2010, INEOS AG, a Swiss corporation, became the ultimate parent undertaking The
ultimate controlling party is Mr Ratcliffe, director and majority shareholder of the ultimate parent
undertaking

32. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 29 January 2010 the Group disposed of the ChlorVinyls and Compounds Switzerland
businesses to Kerling plc, a new holding company formed to combine together Ineos Enterprises,
ChlorVinyls and the Ineos Norwegian Polymers business The Group received €65 million cash
consideration from the disposal of the ChlorVinyls business As part of the disposal transaction, the
Group transferred the €160m Ineos Vinyls Notes to Kerling, together with net pension habihittes of
approximately €170m The Group incurred a non cash loss on the disposal The ChlorVinyls business
15 part of the Chemical Intermediates segment

On 31 March 2010 the Group completed the sale of its fluorochemicals business (part of the
Ineos Fluor business unit} to Mexichem SAB de CV for approximately $350 million Ineos Fluor was
part of the Chernical Intermediates segment

As at 31 December 2009, the Group was not commutted to disposing of either investment Asa
result, n accordance with IFRS 5, these businesses do not meet the criteria to be accounted for as
assets held for sale

On 16 April 2010 the Group obtained senior lender consent for a number of amendments to the
Sentor Facilities Agreement which included an increase in the level of headroom on the financial
covenants and the abihty to refinance some of the senior secured debt with senior secured notes
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Notes to the consolhidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2009
(forming part of the financial statements)

33. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares 1ts consclidated financ:al statements 1n accordance with IFRSs, which
require management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of
the accounting policies, and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses  Actual
resuits may differ from these estimates The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates change
and 1 any future periods

The following areas are considered to mvolve a significant degree of judgement or esumation

Fair value measurement on business combination

The amount of goodwill mmitially recognised as a result of a business combination 15 dependent
on the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets and habilities acquired
The determmation of the fair value of the acquired assets and hiabalities 1s to a considerable extent
based upon management’s judgement, and estimates and assumptions made

Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as intangible assets are
amortised over their estimated useful lives, whereas goodwill, 1s not amortised This could lead to
differing amortisation charges based on the allocation to indefinite and finmite lived intangible assets

On acquisition of a business, the identifiable intangible assets may mnclude customer contracts,
customer relationships and preferential supply contracts The fair value of these assets 15 determined
by discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset The use of different estimates
and assumptions for the expectations of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the
valuation of these intangible assets

The carrying amount of intangibles 1s disclosed in Note 12

Taxation

Management 1s required to estimate the tax payable in each of the jurisdictions in which the
Group operates This involves estimating the actual current tax charge or credit together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes
These differences result in deferred tax assets and hiabilities, which may be ncluded on the
consolhidated balance sheet of the Group Management have performed an assessment as to the extent
to which future taxable profits will allow the deferred asset to be recovered The calculation of the
Group’s total tax charge necessarily mvolves a significant degree of estimation i respect of certain
items whose tax treatment cannot be finally determimed until resolution has been reached with the
relevant tax authority, or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process

The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax lhabilities arising from trading and corporate
transactions 1n the UK and overseas jurisdictions  After appropnate consideration, management makes
provision for these habilities based on the probable level of economic loss that may be ncurred and
which 1s reliably measurable

The breadth of the Group’s structure with operations iIn many geographic locations makes the
use of estimates and assumptions more challenging The resolution of 1ssues 1s not always within the
control of the Group and can be reliant upon the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant
Jurisdictions 1 which the Group operates, and as a result, 1ssues can, and often do take many years to
resolve

Details of amounts recogmsed with regard to taxation are disclosed in Notes 10 and 17

Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post employment schemes Under [AS 19
Employee Benefits, management 1s required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit
oblgation of each of the defined benefit schemes The costs and year end obhigations under defined
benefit schemes are determined using actuarial valuations The actuanal valuations involve making
numerous assumptions, mncluding

. Future rate of increase 1n salaries,
. Inflation rate projections
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33. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

. Discount rate for scheme habilities,
. Expected rates of return on the scheme assets

Details of post-retirement benefits are set out in Note 22

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there 15 a legal or
constructive obligation for such work to be carried out Where the estimated obligation arises upon
initial recognition of the related asset, the corresponding debit 15 treated as part of the cost of the related
asset and depreciated over 1its estimated useful hfe

Other provisions are recognised m the period when 1t becomes probable that there will be a
future outflow of funds resulting from past operations or events that can be reasonably estimated The

timing of recognition requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which
can be subject to change

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recogmised are based on current legal and constructive
requirements, technology and price levels Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to
changes 1n laws, regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place
many years i the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to
take account of such changes

In relation to remediation costs, the estimated interest rate used in discounting the cash flows 1s
reviewed at least annually The mnterest rate used to determine the obligation in the balance sheet at 31
December 2009 was 9% (2008 § 0%, 2007 7 5%)

The nature and amount of provisions included within the financial statements are detatled 1n
Note 23

Impairment reviews

IFRSs require management to test for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite lives, on an annual basis, and of tangible and intangible assets with finite lives if events or
changes 1n circurnstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

An impairment test requires an assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be
supported by 1ts recoverable amount Management calculates the recoverable amount based on the net
present value of the future cash flows derived from the relevant assets, using cash flow projections
which have been discounted at an appropriate discount rate

In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions and estimates
are required to be made m respect of highly uncertain matters, including management’s expectations
of

. Growth rates of various revenue streams,

. Long term growth rates,

. Future margins,

. The selection of an appropnately risk adjusted discount rate, and
. The determination of terminal values

Changing the assumptions selected by management, 1n particular the discount rate used 1n the
present value calculation, could significantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and results

The Group has property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of €5,093 2 million (2008
€5,440 6 mullion, 2007 €6,073 2 mullion} as disclosed in Note 11 and intangible assets with a carrymg
value of €949 6 milhion {2008 €1,046 6 million, 2007 €1,001 3 million) as disclosed in Note 12 All of
these assets are assessed annually for impawrment as described above

For the purpose of impairment testing (when required), to assess whether any impairment exists,
estimates are made of the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and 1ts eventual
disposal Actual outcomes could vary significantly from such estimates of discounted future cash
flows Factors such as changes n the planned use of buildings, plant or equipment, or closure of
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33 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

facilities, the presence or absence of competition, lower than expected asset utilisation from events
such as unplanned outages, strikes and hurricanes, technical obsolescence or lower than anticipated
sales of products with capitahised 1ntellectual property rights could result in shortened useful lives or
unpairment Changes in the discount rates used could also lead to imparments

Further details on the impairment review performed on the goodwill and intangible assets are
provided in Note 12, including sensitivity analysis 1n relation to key assumptions

Loss on the extinguishment of debt

On 17 July 2009 the Group successfully reached agreement with its senior lenders on a package
of amendments to the Group’s Senior Facilities Agreement The Group has assessed that the package
of amendments to the Senior Facilities Agreement represents a substantial modification 1n accordance
with the provisions of IAS 39 As a result, the existing debt has been derecognised and the modified
debt recognised at fair value

In order to recognise the modified debt the Group s required to estimate the fair value of the
modified debt by reference to a valuation technique as the Semor Facilities Agreement debt 1s not
quoted and information about transactions in the Group’s debt 1s not available The valuation
technique used a discounted cash flow technique using an estimated yield for similar debt to determine
the fair value of the modified debt The estimated yield was determined by reference to consensus
pricing 1 respect of the existing Sentor Facilities Agreement debt as adjusted for market 1lliguidity and
other factors distorting prices dunng July 2009 due to the impact of the global financial crisis

The estimation of the fair value of the modified debt required management to exercise
sigmficant judgment Management estimate that a 1 percent increase and decrease 1n the fair value of
the modified debt would increase and decrease the loss on extinguishment of debt by €51 4 milhon
respectrvely This calculation assumes that the change occurred on 17 July 2009 and assumes that all
other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant

Segment aggregation

IFRS 8 “Operating Segments” permits two or more operating segments to be aggregated into
one for disclosure purposes when individual segments have characteristics so similar that they can be
expected to have essentially the same future prospects Management apply this judgment taking nto
account aspects such as economic charactenistics, the nature of products and services, the type of
customers etc
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AUDITORS REPORT ON THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS GROUP HOLDINGS PLC

We have audited the parent company financial statements of Ineos Group Holdings plc for the year ended 31
December 2009 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet, the Accounting Policies and
the related notes The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 15 appiicable law
and Umited Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explamed more fully i the Directors’ Responstbilities Statement set out on page 6, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view Our responsibihity 1s to audit the financial statements 1n accordance with applicable law and International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a body n
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, in
giving these opimnons, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report 1s shown or into whose hands 1t may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in
Writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disciosures 1n the financial statements sufficient
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
sigmficant accounting estimates made by the directors, and the overall presentation of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2009 and of uts profit for
the year then ended,

e have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and

» have been prepared 1n accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act
2006

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Compames Act 2006

In our opinien the information given 1n the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS
OF INEOS GROUP HOLDINGS PLC (CONTINUED)

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report i respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you 1f, 1n our opinion

» adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
recetved from branches not visited by us, or
the financial staternents are not 1n agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made, or
we have not recetved all the information and explanations we require for our audit

Other matter
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of Ineos Group Holdings plc for the year ended
31 December 2009

%

Steve Demison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne

28 Apnil 2010
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 200%

2009 2008

Note €'m €'m

Interest receivable and similar income before exceptional items 183.2 180 5
Exceptional finance income 1 89.0 -

Total mterest recervable and similar income 1 2722 1805

Interest payable and simular charges 3 (181.1) (204 8)

Profit/(loss) on ordimary activities before taxation 2 911 (24 3)

Tax on profit/(loss) on ordinary activities 4 3.1 95

Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities after taxation 11 880 (14 8)

All activities of the Company relate to continuing operations

The Company has no recognised gams and losses other than the profit/(loss) above and therefore no separate

statement of total recognised gains and losses has been presented

There 15 no difference between the reported profits/(losses) stated above and their historical cost equivalents
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

Note 2009 2008
€'m €'m
Fixed assets
Investments 5 17.6 176
Current assets
Debtors amounts due within one year 6 63.7 638
Debtors amounts due after more than one year 6 2,353.4 2,3592
2,417.1 24230
Creditors amounts falling due within one year 7 (86.0) (856)
Net current assets 2,331.1 2,3374
Total assets less current hiabihties 2,348.7 2,3550
Creditors : amounts falling due after more than one year ] {2,185.9) (2,280 2)
Net assets 162 8 74 8
Capital and reserves
Called up equity share capital 10 17.7 177
Share premium account 11 51.1 511
Profit and loss account 11 94.0 60
Total shareholders’ funds 12 162.8 74 8

The financial statements on pages 94 to 102 were approved by the board of directors on 28 April, 2010 and
were signed on 1ts behalf by

g

Leask
irector

95




STATEMENT OF COMPANY ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of accounting

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis under the historical cost convention and in
accordance with the Compames Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the United Kingdom The
principal accounting pohcies, which have been consistently applied are set out below

These financial statements present information about the Company as an individual undertaking The Group’s
consolidated financial statements can be found on pages 11 to 90

Under FRS 1 the Company 1s exempt from the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds
that 1ts cash flows are included n the consolidated cash flow statement on page 16

As the Company 15 a wholly owned subsidiary of Ineos Limited, the Company has taken advantage of the
exemption contained in FRS 8 and has therefore not disclosed transactions or balances with wholly owned
subsidiaries which form part of the Group

Investments

Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for any impairment All nvestments are reviewed for
impairment when there are indications that the carrying value may not be fully recoverable

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax 1s recogmsed m respect of all ttming differences that have originated but not reversed at the
balance sheet date where transactions that result 1in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay
less tax n the future have occurred at the balance sheet date  An asset 1s not recognised to the extent that the
transfer of economic benefits 1n the future 15 uncertamn Deferred tax 1s measured at the average tax rates that
are expected to apply 1n the periods 10 which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates
and laws that have been enacted by the balance sheet date Deferred tax assets and liabilities which have been
recognised have not been discounted

Foreign currencies

The financial statements are expressed in euros as the Company primarily generates imcome, Incurs
expenditure and has the mayjority of 1ts assets and liabilities denomunated m Euros

Exceptional items

The presentation of the Group’s results separately 1dentifies the impact of one off events such as legal
settlements as exceptional items Results excluding disposals, impairments, restructuring costs and one off
items are used by management and are presented 1n order to provide readers with a clear and consistent
presentation of the underlying operating performance of the Group’s ongoing business

Financial instruments

Disclosures 1n accordance with FRS 29 “Fnancial Instrument Disclosures” can be found it Notes 20
and 26 of the Group s financial statements
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

1. Interest recervable and similar income
2009 2008
€m €'m
Interest receivable from group undertakings 182.5 180 5
Exceptional finance income 89.0 -
Exchange differences on foreign currency loan balances 0.7 -
272.2 180.5

Exceptional finance income

In July 2009 the Group finalised the settlement of a legal claim against a third party The defendant agreed to
acquire Senior Notes 1ssued by the Company and to then transfer them to the Company by way of settlement
The total settlement value was $35 million (€25 1 million) and the Company received Senior Notes with a
book value of €114 1 million The resulting gamn of €89 8 nullion has been included as exceptional finance
meome

Directors’ remuneration

Directors’ remuneration 1s borne by other group companies
y group p

2. Profit/(loss) before taxation

Services provided by the Company’s auditor and network firms

During the year the Company obtained audit services from the Group’s auditors Auditors’ remuneration of
€5,000 (2008 €5,000) for the Company for audit work 1s borne by Ineos Holdings Limuited

3. Interest payable and similar charges
2009 2008
€'m €'m
Interest payable on Senior Notes 168.6 168 2
Interest payable to group undertakings 12.5 123
Exchange differences on foreign currency loan balances - 243
181.1 204 8
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4, Taxation

Analysis of tax charge

2009 2008
€'m €'m

Group relief payable to/(receivable from) other group companies at
28% (2008 28%) 0.6 (6 8)
Adjustments 1n respect of previous perieds 2.5 27
3.1 (95)

The tax for the year 15 lower (2008 higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (28%) The

differences are explamed below

2009 2008
€'m €'m
Profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax 91.1 (24 3)
Profit/(loss) on ordmary activities multiplied by standard rate of
corporation tax m UK of 28% (2008 28%) 25.5 (68)
Effects of
Permanent differences (relating to exceptional finance income) {24.9) -
Adjustments 1n respect of previous periods 25 27
Tax charge/(credit) for the year KA v 5
There are no factors which are expected to affect the future tax charge matenally
5. Fixed asset investments
2009 2008
€m €'m
Investment in subsidiary undertakings 17.6 176
6. Debtors
2009 2008
€m €'m
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts due from group undertakings 6317 638
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts due from group undertakings 2,353 4 2,3592
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

7. Creditors — Amounts falling due within one year

2009 2008
€'m €m
Amounts due to group undertakings 25.0 21 8
Accruals and deferred income 61.0 6338
86.0 856

8. Creditors — Amounts fallng due after more than one year
2009 2008
€m €'m
Senior Notes 2,031.0 2,124 9
Amounts due to group undertakings 154.9 1553
2,185.9 2,2802
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

9. Borrowings

2009 2008
€'m €'m

Gross borrowings are repayable as follows
Due after more than five years 2,031.0 2,124 9
2,031.0 2,1249

Senior Notes

The Semior Notes are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and comprise €1,557 2 miilion (2008

€1,630 0 million) Senior Notes due 2016 (the “Euro Notes”) and $677 5 million (2008 $700 million) Semor

Notes due 2016 (the “Dollar Notes™) pursuant to a private offering The Senior Notes bear interest at 7 §75% |
per annum for the Euro Notes and 8 5% for the Dollar Notes, payable semi-annually in arrears on 15 February
and 15 August of each year Unless previously redeemed as noted below, the Senior Notes will be redeemed
by the Company at their principal amount on 15 February 2016

In July 2009 the Company finalised the settlement of a legal claim against a third party The defendant agreed
to acquire Senior Notes 1ssued by the Company and to then transfer them to the Company by way of
settlement The total settlement value was $35 million (€25 1 million) and the Company received Senior Notes
with a book value of €114 1 mullion The transaction resulted 1n a gain of €89 0 mullion which has been
accounted for as exceptional finance income (see Note 1)

The Senior Notes will be subject to redemption at any time on or after 15 February 2011, at the option of the
Company, in whole or 1in part, at the following redemption prices {(expressed as percentages of the principal
amount), 1f redeemed during the 12-month period beginning 15 February of the years indicated below

Euro Notes Dollar Notes
Year redemption price redemption price
2011 103 938% 104 250%
2012 102 625% 102 833%
2013 101 313% 101 417%
2014 and thereafter 100 0% 100 0%

In each case, the redemption premium will be in addition to accrued and unpaid interest, 1f any, to the
redemption date (subject to the nghts of holders of record on relevant record dates to receive interest due on an
interest payment date)

The Senior Notes are secured by junior pledges of all of the shares of the Company The Senior Notes are
guaranteed by the Company and its material operating subsidiartes on an unsecured senior subordinated basis
(excludmng any Ineos Vinyls operating subsidiaries) Such guarantees only become due 179 days after an event
of default on the Senior Notes has occurred or earher under certain circumnstances

The Indenture contains a number of operating and financial covenants including hmitations on indebtedness,
restricted payments, transactions with affiliates, liens, sale of assets and dividend payments
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

10. Called up share capital
2009 2008
€'m €m
Allotted, 1ssued and fully paid
Equity
11,500,231 (2008 11,500,231) ordinary shares of £1 each 17.7 177

As the reporting currency of the Company 1s the Euro, share capital has been converted to Euros at the
effective rate of exchange ruling at the date of 1ssuance

11. Reserves
Profit
Share and loss
premium account
€'m €m
At 1 January 2009 511 60
Profit for the financial year - 880
At 31 December 2009 51.1 94.0
12. Reconcihation of movement in total shareholders’ funds
2009 2008
€'m €'m
Profit/(loss) for the year 880 (14 8)
Net increase/(decrease) in total shareholders® funds 88.0 (14 8)
Opening total shareholders’ funds 748 896
Closing total shareholders’ funds 162.8 74 8
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

13. Ultimate controlling party

The immedsate parent undertaking 1s Ineos Intermed:ate Holdings Limited

The ultimate controlling party 1s Mr JA Ratchiffe, director and majority shareholder of Ineos Limited The
ultimate parent company at 31 December 2009 was Ineos Limited, a company incorporated in England and
Wales As of 26 March 2010, INEOS AG, a Swiss corporation, became the ultimate parent company

Ineos Limited 1s the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to consolidate these financial
statements at 31 December 2009 The consolidated financial statements of Ineos Limited are available from
the Company Secretary, Ineos Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, SO43 7FG

Ineos Group Holdings ple 1s the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings to consohdate these
financial statements The financial statements of Ineos Group Holdings plc are available from the Company
Secretary, Ineos Limited, Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, SO43 7FG
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